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DeAr  
reader,
I am pleased to present 
the first annual report 
for EAM Solar ASA, and 
to introduce to you a 
company whose mis-
sion is to capitalize on the vast opportunities in the 
growing solar energy market. 

Although EAM Solar was established only two years 
ago, its founders have gathered a vast amount of ex-
perience from ventures in the renewable markets and 
solar power industry over the past 20 years. We believe 
this provides us with a sharp competitive edge as we 
grow our business in the years to come. 

EAM Solar currently owns and operates two solar 
power plants in Italy, contributing a stable cash flow 
that will allow us to initiate dividend payments al-
ready in 2013. The existing power plants and attractive 
growth opportunities have enabled us to raise new 
equity and list the company on Oslo Axess in March 
this year, making EAM Solar the first publicly listed 
pure play on the solar power market. This is truly a 
unique investment opportunity. 

We are currently reviewing further growth oppor-
tunities in this exciting market, and I look forward to 
presenting a bigger, stronger, and even more attrac-
tive company in the next annual report.

Audun Wickstrand-Iversen
CEO, EAM Solar ASA
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eAM SolAr ASA 
at a glance
EAM Solar is an investment company that 
acquires and operates solar power plants 
for long-term ownership. The company’s 
shares were listed on Oslo Axess in March 
2013. 

The Company’s objective is to generate 
value through acquiring, operating and 
managing solar power plants according 
to best practice operational performance 
and risk management.

EAM Solar acquires solar power plants 
that are already in operation or commis-
sioned for operations, and currently owns 
two solar power plants in Italy. The elec-
tricity is primarily sold on long-term fixed-
price contracts under Government-backed 
Feed-in Tariff programs. The company 
evaluates growth opportunities and its 
current geographical focus is in Italy, Ger-
many and France.

EAM Solar is a pure investment com-
pany without employees. EAM Solar Park 
Management (EAM SPM), a subsidiary of 
Energeia Asset Management, conducts 
the daily management of the company as 
well as developing the company’s long-
term strategy. The Board of Directors in 
EAM Solar ASA makes all decisions regard-
ing material investments, divestments and 
contracts. EAM Solar ASA aims to offer its 
shareholders attractive returns in the form 
of direct yield and value appreciation. To 
a permitted extent, the company by-laws 
therefore declare that the entire annual 
surplus shall be distributed as dividends 
to its shareholders.
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CoDroipo AnD VArMo, 
eaM Solar’S two 
firSt power plantS
eAM Solar’s two solar power plants, Codroipo and Varmo, 
are located in close vicinity to each other, 80 km northeast 
of Venice, italy. the power plants have a combined capacity 
of 4.65 MWp, and an annual electricity production of 
approximately 7 GWh.
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codroipo
The Codroipo power plant covers 16.85 hec-
tares of land and consists of 368 dual-axis 
tracker structures and 4 416 modules with 
a production capacity of 3.13 MWp. Annual 
electricity production capacity is 4.6 GWh.

The plant benefits from the Feed-in Tar-
iffs granted by the Italian government, as de-
fined in the decree by the Ministry for Eco-
nomical Development, dated 19 February 
2007, also known as Conto Energia 2. The Co-
droipo power plant commenced commer-
cial production on 11 May 2011.The plant 
was acquired by EAM Solar on 29 February 
2012.

VarMo
The Varmo power plant covers 8 hectares 
of land and consists of 184 dual-axis tracker 
structures and 2 208 modules with a pro-
duction capacity of 1.52 MWp. Annual elec-
tricity production capacity is 2.4 GWh.

The plant benefits from the Feed-in Tar-
iffs granted by the Italian government, as de-
fined in the decree by the Ministry for Eco-
nomical Development, dated 19 February 
2007, also known as Conto Energia 2. The 
Varmo power plant commenced commer-
cial production on 28 December 2010.The 
plant was acquired by EAM Solar on 27 Sep-
tember 2011.
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CorporAte 
goVernance
eAM Solar is committed to sound corporate governance practices that 
will strengthen confidence in the company and thereby contribute to 
optimal value creation over time. the objective of corporate governance 
is to regulate the division of roles between shareholders, the Board of 
Directors and executive management more comprehensively than is 
required by legislation.

1.  implementation and reporting on corporate 
governance

Implementation
EAM Solar’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) has the ultimate 
responsibility for ensuring that the company practices good 
corporate governance and has prepared and approved the 
company’s policy for corporate governance. The company, 
through its Board and executive management, carries out a 
thorough review and evaluation of its principles for corporate 
governance on an annual basis.

EAM Solar ASA is a Norwegian public limited company listed 
on Oslo Axess. The Norwegian Accounting Act includes provi-
sions on corporate governance at Section 3-3b which impose 
a duty on the company to issue an annual report on its prin-
ciples and practice for corporate governance. These provi-
sions also stipulate minimum requirements for the content 
of this report.

The Norwegian Corporate Governance Board (NCGB) has 
issued the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Gov-

ernance (the “Code of Practice”). Adherence to the Code of 
Practice is based on the “comply or explain” principle, which 
means that a company must comply with the recommenda-
tions of the Code of Practice or explain why it has chosen an 
alternative approach to specific recommendations.

The Oslo Stock Exchange requires listed companies to pub-
lish an annual statement of their policy on corporate govern-
ance in accordance with the Code of Practice in force at the 
time. The rules on the Continuing Obligations of listed com-
panies are available on www.oslobors.no.

EAM Solar shall comply with the above mentioned rules and 
regulations, and the current Code, issued on 21 October 2010 
and amended on 20 October 2011, except from:
- Viktor E. Jakobsen, who is a board member of EAM Solar 

Park Management AS (SPM), is a member of the Board of 
directors, in addition to being a member of the executive 
management team as Executive Director and CFO. This is 
not in accordance with the recommendation of the Corpo-
rate Governance Code that the board of directors should 
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not include executive personnel. The reason for this devia-
tion is that the company believes that Jacobsen’s position 
on the Board is important as a means of ensuring efficient 
communication with SPM. Furthermore, Jakobsen is one of 
the co-founders of the company and has extensive experi-
ence from the solar park industry, and it is therefore con-
sidered as important that he is a member of the board.

- SPM has a right under the company's articles of associa-
tion to propose two members to the Board of directors. 
This does not comply with the recommendation in the Cor-
porate Governance Code that the nomination committee 
should propose all members of the Board of Directors. The 
reason for this deviation is that the company believes that it 
is important for the communication between the company 
and SPM that SPM can make such proposals.

EAM Solar provides a statement on its principles for corporate 
governance in its annual report, and this information is also 
available on its website at www.eamsolar.com.

Values and guidelines for business ethics and 
corporate social responsibility
Confidence in EAM Solar as a company and in its business ac-
tivities as a whole is essential for the company’s continuing 
competitiveness.

EAM Solar is committed to openness about procedures for 
the management of the company, and the relationship be-
tween EAM Solar Park Management AS and the company. This 
strengthens value creation, builds internal and external con-
fidence and promotes an ethical and sustainable approach 
to the business.

The company has not established separate guidelines for 
corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) as recommended by 
the Code. The company was listed on Oslo Axess in 2013 and 
aims to establish guidelines for CSR during 2013.

2.  Business
The business objective of EAM Solar ASA is defined in Article 

3 of the company’s Articles of Association, which states that:
“The company’s business activities include identification, 

analysis, financing, operating, purchase and sale of solar power 
plants outside Norway, and naturally related activities, such as 
ownership in similar companies.”

EAM Solar’s Articles of Association are available on the com-
pany website www.eamsolar.no

3.  equity and dividends
equity
Total equity amounted to NOK 103.7 million at the end of 2012, 
representing an equity ratio of 70.0 percent.

Dividend policy
The company’s objective is to generate a return for its share-
holders through dividends and increases in the share price 
that is at least in line with the return available on similar in-
vestment opportunities of comparable risk.

To the extent permitted by applicable law, the company by-
laws declare that the entire annual surplus shall be distributed 
as dividends to its shareholders. Changes to or exemptions 
from this article requires the support of at least nine tenths 
of the votes cast and of the share capital represented at the 
general meeting.

EAM Solar has not paid any dividends since foundation.

Authorizations to the Board
As per 31 December 2012, the Board did not hold any author-
izations to increase the company’s share capital, nor to buy 
own shares.

The Board of directors was granted an authorization at the 
general meeting held on 7 March 2013 to increase the compa-
ny’s share capital by a minimum of 1 000 000 and a maximum 
of 2 500 000 shares.

The authorization was given in relation to the Initial Public 
Offering process, and was carried out in the period 11 March 
2013 to 19 March 2013.

The proceeds from the offering were used to:
- Finance the acquisition of additional solar power plants; and
- Repay the outstanding shareholder loan

At an extraordinary general meeting held 7 March 2013, the 
Board of directors was given authority to increase the compa-
ny’s share capital upon an exercise of the Over-Allotment Option.

4.  equal treatment of shareholders and 
transactions with close associates

equal treatment
All the shares in the company and shareholders have equal 
rights, including voting rights. Each share carries the right to 
one vote at the company’s general meetings.

In the event that the Board is granted authorizations to buy 
own shares and decides to use this authorization, the transac-
tions will be carried out through the stock exchange or at pre-
vailing stock exchange prices if carried out in any other way.

transactions with close associates
EAM Solar has entered into a Management Agreement with 
EAM Solar Park Management AS who will provide all adminis-
trative, technical, and operational services to the company. 
EAM Solar has no employees. All administrative, technical and 
commercial services are conducted by EAM Solar Park Man-
agement AS.

All the transactions between EAM Solar and EAM Solar Park 
Management AS have been carried out as part of the ordinary 
operations and at arms-length prices.

Any transactions, agreements or arrangements between 
the company and its shareholders, members of the Board, 
members of the executive management team or close 
associ¬ates of any such parties shall only be entered into as 
part of the ordinary course of business and on arm’s length 
market terms. All such transactions shall comply with the pro-
cedures set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Com-
panies Act or similar provisions, as applicable.
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5.  transfer of shares
According to the company’s Articles of Association, there are 
no general limitations on transfer of the company’s shares 
that will apply from the time of listing.

There are no provisions in the Articles which would have 
an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of con-
trol of the company, or which require disclosure of ownership 
above any thresholds.

Transfer of shares in the company does not require con-
sent from the Board. Transfer of shares does not trigger any 
preemptive rights for other shareholders.

6.  general Meetings
the Annual General Meeting
The annual general meeting (“AGM”) is the company’s highest 
authority. The Board strives to ensure that the AGM is an ef-
fective forum for communication between the shareholders 
and the Board, and encourages shareholders to participate 
in the meeting.

Preparations for the AGM
The annual general meeting shall be held before 30 June, 
which is the latest date permitted by company law. The AGM 
shall deal with and decide on the approval of the annual fi-
nancial statement and directors’ report, including the distri-
bution of any dividend, and such other matters as may be set 
out in the notice of the meeting.

In 2013, the AGM will be held on 14 May.
Extraordinary general meetings can be called by the Board 

of directors. In addition, the Board of directors shall call an ex-
traordinary general meeting whenever so demanded in writing 
by the auditor or shareholders representing at least 5 percent 
of the share capital, in order to deal with a specific subject.

General meetings are conveyed by the company’s Board of 
directors. A notice of a general meeting shall be sent at the lat-
est 21 days before the date of the meeting, and shall include a 
proposal for an agenda for the meeting. The notice will also be 
made available on the company’s website www.eamsolar.no. 

A shareholder is entitled to submit proposals to be discussed 
at general meetings provided such proposals are submitted 
in writing to the Board of directors in such good time that it 
can be entered on the agenda of the meeting.

The date of the next AGM is included in the company’s fi-
nancial calendar. The financial calendar for the coming year 
is published no later than 31 December in the form of a stock 
exchange announcement and is also made available on the 
company’s website.

Participation in the AGM
The company’s Articles of Association do not contain any no-
tice requirements for attending a general meeting.

Shareholders who are unable to attend the meeting are en-
couraged to appoint a proxy. The arrangements for appointing 
a proxy allow shareholders to specify how their proxy should 
vote on each matter to be considered. Representatives from 
the Board attend the AGM, together with at least one repre-
sentative from the nomination committee, and the auditor. 
The executive management is represented at the AGM with, 
at a minimum, the CEO and the CFO attending.

Agenda and conduct of the AGM
The Board decides the agenda for the AGM. The main agenda 
items are determined by the requirements of the Public Lim-
ited Liability Companies Act and Article 9 of the articles of as-
sociation of EAM Solar.

The Board will seek to propose a person independent of the 
company and the Board to chair the general meetings, ensur-
ing that the AGM has an independent chairperson in accord-
ance with the recommendations of the Code.

The Board and the person chairing the meeting will make 
appropriate arrangements for the general meeting to vote 
separately on each candidate nominated for election to the 
companỳ s corporate bodies.

Members of the Board and the nomination committee, as 
well as the company’s auditor are present at the annual gen-
eral meeting.

The AGM minutes are published by issuing a stock exchange 
announcement, and are also made available on the company’s 
website at www.eamsolar.no

7.  nomination committee
EAM Solar shall have a nomination committee consisting of 
three members. The company’s current nomination commit-
tee was elected for two years on 14 May 2012, and consists of:
- Leiv Askvig (representing Sundt AS)
- Paal Hvammen (representing Canica AS)
- Christian Aubert

The members of the nomination committee shall be share-
holders or representatives of shareholders.

The members of the nomination committee, including its 
chairman, are elected by the general meeting. The members 
of the nomination committee’s period of service shall be two 
years unless the general meeting decides otherwise. The pe-
riod of service commences from the time of being elected un-
less otherwise decided. It terminates at the end of the annual 
general meeting of the year in which the period of service ex-
pires. Even if the period of service has expired, the member 
must remain in his or her position until a new member has 
been elected.

The remuneration to the members of the nomination com-
mittee shall be determined by the general meeting.

The nomination committee shall have the following respon-
sibilities:
1.  To give the general meeting its recommendations regarding 

the election of board members to be elected by the share-
holders, provided however that EAM Solar Park Manage-
ment AS shall have the right to give its recommendation 
for two of the board members;

2.  To give the general meeting its recommendations regard-
ing the remuneration to the board members;

3.  To give the general meeting its recommendations regard-
ing the election of members of the nomination commit-
tee; and
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4.  To give the general meeting its recommendations regard-
ing the remuneration to the members of the nomination 
committee.

The general meeting may issue further guidelines for the nomi-
nation committee’s work.

8.  corporate assembly and board of directors: 
composition and independence

elections to the Board
The general meeting of shareholders elects the members of 
the Board. The company’s Articles of Association provide that 
the Board of directors shall have no fewer than three mem-
bers and no more than seven members. In accordance with 
Norwegian law, the CEO and at least half of the members of 
the Board must either be resident in Norway, or be citizens of 
and resident in an EU/EEA country.

the composition of the Board
As per 31 December 2012, the Board of EAM Solar consists of 
three, of which two men and one woman.

The Board consists of three members:
• Viktor E. Jakobsen
• Ingelise Arntsen
• Paal E. Johnsen

At the extraordinary general meeting held 7 March 2013 and 
with effect from the Listing, Paal E. Johnsen was elected as 
Chairman of the Board.

The company’s Board of directors is not elected for a spe-
cific time period, but can be replaced by the company’s gen-
eral meeting at any time.

The members of the Board represent varied and broad ex-
perience from relevant industries and areas of technical spe-
cialty, and the members bring experience from both Norwe-
gian and international companies. More information about 
the board members expertise and background can be found 

on the company’s website, www.eamsolar.no.

Independence of the Board
Ingelise Arntsen and Paal E. Johnsen are independent of the 
company’s executive management, material business con-
tacts and the company’s larger shareholders. Paal E. John-
sen represents Alden AS, which holds 4.17 percent of the 
company’s shares and is thus not defined as one of the com-
pany’s larger shareholders. At least 50 percent of the Board 
members are independent of the executive management and 
large shareholders. Viktor E Jakobsen has been nominated 
as a board member by SPM, which under the company’s Arti-
cles of Association has the right to propose up to two board 
members. EAM Solar Park Management AS has not exercised 
its right to propose a second board member.

The Board includes one member from the company’s ex-
ecutive management team.

Viktor E. Jakobsen, who is a board member of EAM Solar 
Park Management AS (SPM), is a member of the Board of di-
rectors, in addition to being a member of the executive man-
agement team as Executive Director and CFO. This is not in 
accordance with the recommendation of the Corporate Gov-
ernance Code that the board of directors should not include 
executive personnel. The reason for this deviation is that the 
company believes that Jacobsen’s position on the Board is 
important as a means of ensuring efficient communication 
with SPM. Furthermore, Jakobsen is one of the co-founders 
of the company and has extensive experience from the solar 
park industry, and it is therefore considered as important that 
he is a member of the board.

The other shareholder-elected member of the Board is con-
sidered to be independent of the company’s main sharehold-
ers and its material business connections.

SPM has a right under the company's articles of associa-
tion to propose two members to the Board of directors. This 
does not comply with the recommendation in the Corporate 
Governance Code that the nomination committee should pro-
pose all members of the Board of Directors. The reason for this 

deviation is that the company believes that it is important for 
the communication between the company and SPM that SPM 
can make such proposals.

9.  the work of the Board of directors
the Board’s duties and responsibility
The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the management 
of the company and for supervising its day-to-day manage-
ment and activities in general.

This includes participating in the development and approval 
of the company’s strategy, performing necessary monitoring 
functions including supervision responsibilities to ensure that 
the company manages its business and assets and carries 
out risk management in a prudent and satisfactory manner, 
and acting as an advisory body for the management team.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of the CEO.
The Board prepares an annual plan for its work, and con-

ducts an annual strategy meeting. The strategy meeting in 
2013 will be held in November.

Mandate for the Board
In accordance with the provisions of Norwegian company law, 
the terms of reference for the Board are set out in a formal 
mandate that includes specific rules and guidelines on the 
work of the Board and decision making. The Chairman of the 
Board is responsible for ensuring that the work of the Board 
is carried out in an effective and proper manner in accord-
ance with legislation.

Mandate for the Ceo
The CEO is responsible for the executive management and 
the day-to-day operations of the company. The Board issues 
a mandate for the work of the CEO. There is a clear division of 
responsibilities between the Board and the CEO.

Financial reporting
The Board receives periodic reports on the company’s com-
mercial and financial status. The company follows the timeta-
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ble laid down by the Oslo Stock Exchange for the publication 
of interim and annual reports.

Board meetings
The Board holds regular meetings and a strategy meeting each 
year. Extraordinary Board meetings are held as and when re-
quired, to consider matters that cannot wait until the next 
regular meeting. In addition, the Board has appointed an Au-
dit committee to work on matters in these areas.

During 2012 the Board of directors had 10 meetings with a 
turnout of 100 percent.

Extraordinary Board meetings are held as and when re-
quired, to consider matters that cannot wait until the next 
regular meeting.

Audit committee
EAM Solar is exempted from the obligation to have an audit 
company as it satisfies the criteria in section 2.3.3 (3) no. 4 of 
the Listing Rules and section 6-41 (2) of the Norwegian Public 
Limited Liability Companies Act.

The company has nevertheless established an audit com-
mittee. Currently, the full Board serves as the audit commit-
tee, and the company believes that the audit committee satis-
fies the requirements in section 6-42 of the Norwegian Public 
Limited Liability Companies Act.

None of the members of the committee are employees of 
the company, and Paal E Johnsen is independent of the com-
pany, and has qualifications in relation to accounting matters.

The Audit Committee will not make any decisions on behalf 
of the Board, but will present its assessment and recommen-
dations to the Board.

the Board’s evaluation of its own work
The Board will carry out an annual evaluation of its own per-
formance, working arrangements and competence. The Chair-
man of the Board prepares a report on this evaluation, which 
is made available to the Nomination committee. The Board 
will carry out a similar evaluation of the CEO.

10.  risk management and internal control
EAM Solar’s Board is responsible for ensuring that the com-
pany has a sound internal control and sufficient systems for 
risk management. The company’s systems for internal control 
and procedures for risk management are intended to ensure 
timely and correct financial reporting, as well as compliance 
with the legislation and regulations to which the company is 
subject.

The follow-up of internal controls relating to financial re-
porting is undertaken by means of management’s day-to-day 
monitoring, periodic reports to the Board and work of the au-
dit committee.

The Board carries out an annual review of the company’s 
most important areas of exposure to risk and its internal con-
trol arrangements. Also, the auditor presents an annual review 
of the company’s internal control procedures to the audit com-
mittee, including the company’s accounting principles, risk ar-
eas, internal control routines and proposals for improvement. 

11.  remuneration of the Board of directors
The general meeting annually determines the Board’s remu-
neration, based on proposal by the nomination committee. 
Remuneration of board members shall be reasonable and 
based on the Board’s responsibilities, work, time invested and 
the complexity of the enterprise. The compensation shall be 
a fixed annual amount. The chairman of the Board may re-
ceive a higher compensation than the other members. The 
Board shall be informed if individual board members perform 
other tasks for the company than exercising their role as board 
members. Work in sub-committees may be compensated in 
addition to the remuneration received for board membership.

The company’s annual accounts provide information about 
the Board’s compensation.

12.  remuneration of executive personnel
The management of the company is carried out by SPM pursuant 
to the/a Management Agreement. The executive management 
is employed by SPM, and receives its remuneration from SPM.

SPM is entitled to revenue equal to its directly attributa-
ble costs for providing the services to the company, without 
margin.

In addition, SPM is entitled to a royalty of 12.5 percent of 
the pre-tax profits of EAM Solar. The annual pre-tax profit that 
shall form basis for calculating the royalty is defined as net re-
sult for the fiscal year after operational costs, depreciation and 
amortization and net financial items. As further described in 
an annex to the Management Agreement, certain adjustments 
shall be made to the pre-tax profit in order to reflect;
1.  Non-cash accounting items (e.g. asset write downs and re-

valuation); and
2.  Acquisition and transaction costs which otherwise would 

have been expensed in the year the costs have been in-
curred (such costs shall be activated and depreciated dur-
ing the assets operating lifetime).

The royalty shall be based on the audited annual accounts, 
and is paid out quarterly on the basis of quarterly accounts.

The royalty structure aligns the interests of SPM with the 
interests of the shareholders in the company.

The Management Agreement is entered into for an initial 
term of 10 years. After the initial term, both parties can termi-
nate the Management Agreement by giving 12 months’ notice, 
at the earliest with effect from 2021. Termination by the com-
pany triggers a termination fee of 5 times the average royalty 
for the preceding two fiscal years.

In 2012, the Group paid EUR 671 000 to SPM for manage-
ment services. In addition to the remuneration to the execu-
tive management as described above, this includes costs relat-
ing to the administrative, technical and commercial activities 
of the company, conducted by SPM, such travel costs, office 
equipment, telecommunication, IT etc. Costs related to other 
services covered by the Management Agreement are invoiced 
directly to the company.

No member of the company’s management has received 
remuneration or economic benefits from other companies 
in the Group.
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No member of the company’s Board of directors, executive 
management, or other administrative or supervisory bodies 
has service contracts with the company or any of its subsidi-
aries providing for benefits upon termination of employment.

No loans or guarantees have been given to any members of 
the company’s management, the Board of directors or other 
corporate bodies.

13.  information and communications
EAM Solar maintains regular dialogue with analysts and inves-
tors. The company strives to continuously publish relevant 
information to the market in a timely, effective and non-dis-
criminatory manner, and considers it very important to inform 
shareholders and investors about the company’s commercial 
and financial performance.

All stock exchange announcements are made available both 
on the company’s website and on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
news website at www.newsweb.no.

Financial reports
EAM Solar publishes its preliminary annual accounts by the 
end of February and the complete annual report, including ap-
proved and final annual accounts and the Board of Directors 
report, is available no later than 30 April each year as required 
by the Securities Trading Act. The complete annual report and 
accounts are made available to shareholders no later than 
three weeks prior to the AGM. Quarterly interim reports are 
normally published in 3 weeks following the end of the quarter.

The company’s financial calendar for the coming year is 
published as a stock exchange announcement and made 
available on the company’s website and on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange website no later than 31 December each year, in 
accordance with the continuing obligations for companies 
listed on Oslo Børs.

other market information
EAM Solar holds open presentations in connection with the 
publication of the company’s quarterly results. At the presen-

tations, the executive management review and comment on 
the published results, market conditions and the company’s 
future prospects.

Dialogue with shareholders
The company’s management gives high priority to communi-
cation with the investor market. Individual meetings are organ-
ised for major investors, investment managers and analysts. 
The company also attends investor conferences.

The Board has issued guidelines for the investor relations 
function of the company, including authorised spokesper-
sons of the company.

14.  take-overs
The Board endorses the principle of non-discrimination of 
shareholders. In the event of a take-over situation, the Board 
undertakes to act in a professional manner and in accord-
ance with applicable legislation and regulations. The Board 
will seek to comply with the recommendations in the Code 
relating to the Board’s responsibilities and duties in a takeo-
ver situation.

15.  auditor
EAM Solar is audited by Ernst & Young AS, Norway.

The auditor presents a plan annually to the Board for the 
audit work and confirms that the auditor satisfies established 
requirements as to independence and objectivity. In connec-
tion with the auditor’s presentation to the Board of the annual 
work plan, the Board should specifically consider if the audi-
tor to a satisfactory degree also carries out a control function.

The auditor participates in Board meetings that deal with 
the annual accounts, and presents a review of the company’s 
internal control procedures to the audit committee, including 
the company’s accounting principles, risk areas, internal con-
trol routines etc. and proposals for improvement.

The board of directors holds a meeting with the auditor at 
least once a year without any member of the executive man-
agement being present.

The board of directors has established guidelines in respect 
of the use of the auditor by the company’s executive manage-
ment for services other than the audit.

The Board reports the remuneration paid to the auditor 
at the annual general meeting, including details of the fee 
paid for audit work and any fees paid for other specific as-
signments.
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report froM the 
Board of directorS
eAM Solar acquires and operates solar power plants and sells electricity in the 
grid under contracts spanning the entire lifetime of the plants. eAM Solar’s first 
two investments were made in italy, where the company currently owns two solar 
power plants with a combined capacity of 4.65 MW in the friuli-Venezia Giulia 
region. revenues from the two plants amounted to eur 3.1 million in 2012, with 
fixed feed-in tariff revenues accounting for approximately 80% and electricity sales 
in the wholesale electricity market for approximately 20%. reported net income 
after tax was eur 529k, and epS eur 0.44 on both a basic and diluted basis.

EAM Solar creates value through the acquisition and active 
ownership of solar power plants. EAM Solar does not take pro-
ject development or construction risk, as any acquisition will 
be subject to plant commissioning and grid-connection before 
finalisation. Risk is reduced through a structure where all as-
sets and licenses related to the solar power plants are owned 
by wholly owned subsidiaries organized as single purpose ve-
hicles. EAM Solar takes an active ownership role to ensure op-
timal operation of the solar power plants, differentiating the 
company’s operational strategy from project developers, EPC 
contractors or solar power module producers.

EAM Solar has no employees. EAM Solar Park Manage-
ment AS conducts all administrative, technical and commer-
cial management under a long-term agreement. The man-
agement agreement between EAM Solar and EAM Solar Park 
Management is designed to maximise value for EAM Solar’s 
shareholders through best practice operations, and EAM So-

lar intends to pay its equity investors the highest possible divi-
dend achievable within the limits of cash financial covenants 
and cash prudency.

EAM Solar is in the process of securing the equity and debt 
funding required to fund its growth plans, and in February 
renewed its application for an IPO and subsequent listing on 
Oslo Axess. EAM Solar ASA applied for a public listing on the 
Oslo Axess stock exchange 20th February 2013. The company 
expects to be listed by 26th March 2013.

Group Structure and organization
EAM Solar ASA is a holding company for three wholly owned 
Italian subsidiaries organized as single-purpose vehicles.

EAM Solar Park Management AS founded EAM Solar ASA 
in 2011, and is a Norwegian public limited company based in 
Oslo, Norway.

EAM Solar ASA has two solar power plants in the Friuli-Ven-
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ezia Giulia region in Northern Italy, with assets and licenses in 
the 1.52 MW plant close to Comune di Varmo owned by EAM 
Solar Italy 1 Srl. and assets and licenses in the 3.13 MW plant 
in Città di Codroipo owned by EAM Solar Italy 2 Srl. A third sub-
sidiary, EAM Solar Italy 3 Srl.is currently not active.

EAM Solar ASA and its subsidiaries have no employees. The 
positions that the company is legally required to fill are held 
by employees of EAM Solar Park Management AS, including 
the CEO. EAM Solar Park Management is exclusive manager 
of all the administrative, technical and commercial services 
of EAM Solar ASA and its subsidiaries, and conducts the daily 
operations of the company. EAM Solar Park Management has 
in turn outsourced the commercial management to Wise En-
ergy Srl. in Italy.

The management agreement structure is designed to align 
the interests of EAM Solar Park Management AS with the in-
terests of shareholders in EAM Solar ASA.

Health, environment & Safety
EAM Solar ASA have no employees, and therefore have no sta-
tistics to offer with respect to health issues, recruiting pro-
cesses, salaries, or working conditions.

As exclusive manager of all administrative, technical and 
commercial services, EAM Solar Park Management AS is also re-
sponsible for upholding the requirements with respect to gen-
der neutrality, non-discrimination and equal opportunities.

Six employees of EAM Solar Park Management AS are cur-
rently providing management services for EAM Solar ASA, 
whereof one is a woman and five are men. The Board of Di-
rectors consisted of only three members in 2012 - one woman 
and two men.

EAM Solar will seek to recruit employees and Directors on a 
gender-neutral and non-discriminatory basis as the company 
expands its activities.

Solar power plants offer a power source that is environ-
mentally superior to traditional fossil energy sources. Solar 
power plants are by nature not exposing the environment 
to any harmful use, besides that the activity occupies land 

and may alter the visual appearance of the areas. EAM Solar’s 
power plants are built with silicon-based solar panels, and the 
production facilities produce no harmful waste.

The activities related to the management of the business 
generate no effect on the external environmental apart from 
those related to normal office work.

Business Strategy
EAM Solar creates value through a low risk acquisition strat-
egy and active ownership to optimise operations.

EAM Solar’s acquisition strategy is designed to eliminate 
risks related to development, construction, and commis-
sioning. The company’s existing plants were already commis-
sioned, grid-connected and selling electricity under long-term 
sales contracts at the time they were acquired. EAM Solar may 
also acquire fully-licensed but not yet constructed plants, in 
which case construction risk will be eliminated through the 
EPC contract.

Investments are being selected and proposed to the Board of 
Directors by the Manager, EAM Solar Park Management, follow-
ing a set of pre-defined investment criteria seeking robust EPC 
and O&M contract designs, insurance where possible, and land 
purchases or leases covering long-term sales contracts. Fur-
thermore, the company targets acquisition candidates offering 
an opportunity to enhance production through active manage-
ment. EAM Solar’s operational strategy thus differs from that of 
project developers, EPC contractors and module producers.

The Board of Directors of EAM Solar makes all investment 
decisions and approves the annual budgets according to the 
recommendations given by EAM Solar Park Management.

Risk is further limited through a plant ownership structure 
via companies operating as single purpose vehicles, which iso-
late operational and financial risks and facilitate a high degree 
of flexibility with regards to asset restructuring. Distributed 
profits generated in the single purpose vehicles are transferred 
to EAM Solar as dividends or Group contributions.

Financially, the company seeks investment targets able to 
generate project IRR of 7%-12% based on guaranteed perfor-

mance ratios according to EPC and O&M contracts. Financial 
gearing should enable higher equity cash IRR of 10%-15%.

This should in turn enable an average dividend yield of 15%-
20%, and EAM Solar will be able to pay its equity investors as 
high dividend as possible within the limits of financial cove-
nants and the cash position.

operational review
EAM Solar owns and operates two solar power plants in the 
Friuli-Venezia Giulia region in Northern Italy. Production from 
the two plants amounted to 7 808 MWh of electrical power in 
2012, with the plant in Varmo producing 2 571 MWh and the 
plant in Codroipo producing 5 237 MWh.

The Codroipo plant was consolidated with effect from 
29th February 2012, and reported production was lower at 
7 165 MWh.

The graphs below illustrate the annual budget and actual 
production from the Varmo and Codroipo plants in 2011 and 
2012 (on a 100% basis).

Note that the Codroipo plant was first put into production 
in May 2011.

Solar irradiation was above the historical average in North-
east Italy in both 2011 and 2012. The 2012 irradiation was ap-
proximately 11% above the historical average, within the nor-
mal expected variation of +/- 15%.

Technical availability of the plants was 99.6% in 2012, which 
is a strong level compared to most references. The commercial 
availability has been lower, slightly above 95%, due to grid dis-
turbances, maintenance activities, and administrative issues. 
EAM has conducted workshops with contractors and subcon-
tractors in order to optimise technical operations, reduce cost 
and lower the risk of production losses. It is expected that the 
implemented plans and procedures will significantly increase 
the commercial availability in the future.

Power production varies throughout the year, following the 
seasonality of the solar irradiation in the Friuli-Venezia Giuli 
region in Northern Italy. On average, approximately 18% of 
annual power production will be produced in the first quar-
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ter of the year, increasing to 33% in the second quarter and 
35% in the third quarter before declining to 14% in the fourth 
quarter of the year.

EAM Solar boosted production at the plants by installing 
new electricity measurement meters in September 2012, with 
full effect from December. These will reduce power loss and 
are expected to increase production by approximately 1.0%. 
The new meters also improve the timeliness of the produc-
tion reporting cycle, which in turn improves the collection of 
receivables.

Italian authorities, in the fourth quarter 2012, introduced 
new technical requirements for all power plants to improved 
grid operations. EAM Solar will make the necessary adjust-
ments during the first quarter 2013.

Based on achieved production figures and improvements 
made to the facilities, the two existing solar power plants are 
expected to generate an electricity production in the range 
of 6.9 - 7.8 GWh in 2013 depending on the solar irradiation.

Market overview
The development of the solar power market has historically 
relied on subsidies, with most countries basing their solar 
power policies on Feed-in Tariff (FiT) regimes. These are typ-
ically long-term fixed-price power off-take agreements be-
tween the power plant owner and public agencies, with du-
ration of 20-25 years to match the commercial lifetime of the 
power plants.

Combined with significant cost reductions throughout the 
solar power value chain, these subsidy systems have gener-
ated strong growth in the deployment of photovoltaic (PV) 
power plants.

A National Renewable Energy Action Plan from 2009 tar-
geted total installed PV capacity of 8 GW in Italy by 2020. How-
ever, costs of solar power equipment have declined rapidly, 
with prices for PV plants dropping by approximately 50% since 
2009. The capacity target was thus exceeded already by 2011, 
and according to the public Gestore Servizi Energetici (GSE) 

the total installed base stood at 16.4 GW per February 2013.
Subsidies for new solar power plants have decreased at a 

similar rate as the installation costs, and both are expected to 
continue to decline in the future. The sharp cost decline means 
that prices for electricity generated by solar power is nearing 
grid-parity in many markets, and that the industry is prepar-
ing for a new era of non-subsidised power plants.

The FiT-regime in Italy has been governed by the Ministry of 
Economy and Finance through decrees known as Conto En-
ergia. The Ministry has issued five such decrees in 2005-2012, 
and it is expected that Conto Energia 5 may be the last that 
Italy may approve.

Both the Varmo and Codroipo plants have contracts ac-
cording to Conto Energia 2 issued in 2007, with a FiT of EUR 
0.346 per kWh payable by the GSE. The FiT accounted for ap-
proximately 80% of EAM Solar’s revenues in 2012.

In Italy, the FiT-regime is financed through the utility invoice 
of the end-user; a system that limits the exposure to third-
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party risk and has proven more robust against political risk 
than Government funded subsidy regimes in other countries.

Power production sold in the market place accounted for 
approximately 20% of revenues in 2012. Market prices for elec-
tricity in the Friuli-Venezia Giulia region declined from approxi-
mately EUR 80/Mwh at the beginning of 2012 to approximately 
EUR 70/MWh at the end of the year. Per January 2013 the for-
ward price in the Italian market was EUR 70 per MWh for 2013.

In September 2012, the Autorita per l’Energia Elettricca e il 
Gas (AEEG) in Italy reduced the grid balance benefit for EAM 
Solar’s plants from 4.7% to 2.4% of the power production. The 
grid balance benefit is the increase in the kWh calculation ba-
sis for the value of local production. The reduction affects rev-
enue generated in the market place, and the overall negative 
effect on revenue from existing plants is approximately 0.5%. 
The change did not affect the FiT.

EAM Solar and most other solar power producers in It-
aly have been selling the power at market prices to the GSE 
through the dedicated off-take regime “Ritiro Dedicato”, al-
though producers are free to sell the power to other market 
participants while retaining the FiT production subsidy from 
the GSE.

However, the AEEG has introduced a requirement for all 
solar plants to participate in the intraday imbalance power 
market the Italian Power Exchange (IPEX) with effect from 1st 
January 2013. The current agreement for dispatch and power 
sales with the GSE does not cap the imbalance cost, and EAM 
Solar has therefore entered into a power purchase agreement 
with a major European power trader to cap the imbalance risk 
at approximately 4% of the expected market price. The con-
tract will be activated in the second quarter 2013, as soon as 
the current GSE “Ritiro Dedicato” contract expires.

Investment opportunities
EAM Solar sees an active transaction market for solar power 
plants in Italy, and expects to participate in this market. Many 
existing owners of PV plants are seeking to divest assets, rang-
ing from PE funds and banks to EPCs and PV module man-

ufacturers, and many institutional investors are seeking ex-
posure to the stable and competitive yields offered by solar 
power production.

EAM SPM has evaluated a wide range of potential invest-
ments in several markets, and is in the advanced stages of 
negotiations to purchase three solar power projects in Italy 
on behalf of EAM Solar.

Subject to final negotiations and financing, EAM Solar may 
thus enter into purchase agreements for new power plants in 
2013; projects that will considerably increase the company’s 
scale of operations and revenue base.

The projects comprise of a 25 MWp solar power plant in Sar-
dinia, a 10 MWp plant in Lazio, and an 8 MWp plant in Piemonte.

The largest of the projects will be carried out in partner-
ship with a designated EPC that will acquire project rights and 
construct the plant at its own risk, with expected delivery to 
EAM Solar upon grid-connection towards the end of 2013. The 
plant will have a long-term FiT contract under Conto Energia 5.

Total project cost is preliminary estimated at EUR 41 mil-
lion, corresponding to EUR 1.6/Wp, to be financed through a 
combination of EUR 11 million in equity and EUR 30 million in 
debt. An indicative terms sheet has been agreed with the Ger-
man bank KfW Ipex for a non-recourse project finance facility.

The Lazio-project has a similar structure and will also be eli-
gible to FiT under Conto Energia 5. The estimated total project 
cost is EUR 13 million, or EUR 1.4/Wp, to be financed through 
EUR 3 million in equity and EUR 10 million in debt. An indicated 
term sheet has been agreed with KfW Ipex, subject to realiza-
tion of the Sardinia project.

The third plant in Piemonte is already producing electricity 
under a contract according to Conto Energia 3, and EAM Solar 
is seeking to sign an exclusivity agreement giving the company 
time to carry out due diligence and renegotiation of existing 
bank agreements for non-recourse project financing. Total pro-
ject investment is estimated at EUR 27 million, to be financed 
through EUR 9 million in equity and EUR 18 million in debt. The 
higher investment of EUR 3.5/Wp reflects the more positive FiT 
terms in Conto Energia 3 compared to Conto Energia 5.

The realization of the possible acquisitions will be subject 
to EAM Solar raising new equity and finalizing agreements re-
garding debt financing.

EAM Solar Power Management will continue to evaluate 
further acquisition opportunities in both the new-build mar-
ket and the secondary market for plants already in operation.

events after the balance sheet date
EAM Solar ASA, in February 2013, renewed its application for a 
listing on Oslo Axess. The contemplated initial public offering 
("IPO") represents a key step forward for EAM Solar, making 
the stable, high returns of solar power production available 
for a broader spectrum of investors and providing the com-
pany with the capital access required to continue company 
growth.  

EAM Solar is currently negotiating possible purchases of 
new solar power plants in Italy, which may considerably in-
crease the Company's electricity production capacity.

New project investments will be funded through a combina-
tion of debt financing and new equity, and EAM Solar intends 
to carry out a new share issue of approximately NOK 100-200 
million in connection with the listing.

The company has received pre-commitments from a lim-
ited number of existing shareholders and new investors to 
subscribe for new shares in the IPO for an amount approxi-
mately corresponding to the low end of the indicative trans-
action size range.

Risk factors and risk management
EAM Solar is exposed to a number of risk factors, including 
government subsidies, incentives and regulatory framework, 
power prices and operations. The company has sought to miti-
gate these risks as best possible, through entry into long-term 
electricity sales contracts with third parties carrying very lim-
ited counterparty risk, entry into robust operations & mainte-
nance contracts, and through insurance.

The company is also exposed to risks related to future 
planned growth, including the availability of commercially 
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attractive acquisition targets and the availability of commer-
cially attractive financing for such acquisitions. However, the 
company’s management partner EAM Solar Park Management 
is negotiating a number of projects that seem to meet the com-
pany’s investment criteria, and has also secured commercially 
acceptable term sheets for debt financing of these projects.

The company’s financial risk primarily consists of financing 
risk related to the acquisition of the existing plants in the port-
folio, parts of which were funded through a bridge loan (NOK 
denominated) from shareholders, expiring in 2014. The com-
pany has sought to limit this risk by advancing repayments, 
and expects to obtain long-term bank financing for the two 
existing plants during the first half of 2013. Part of the proceeds 
from the planned IPO in March 2013 will immediately go to re-
pay the bridge loan. 89.5% of the minimum amount of NOK 
100 million, which is the minimum amount to be raised with 
the IPO, has been secured through signed pre-commitments. 
For every four shares pre-committed, the shareholders receive 
a warrant to purchase an additional share at the same price 
for a period of two years from the capital increase.

EAM Solar is to no significant degree exposed to market risks 
apart from exchange rate risk. This risk will be mitigated by 
the fact that all income and the bulk of operational costs are 
denominated in EUR, and that all assets and future debt will 
also be denominated in EUR. Interest risks will be mitigated 
through entry into interest derivatives.

EAM Solar has limited credit risk, as the main counterparty 
Gestore Servizi Elecctrica is owned by the Italian state and the 
local electricity grid operators are subject to strict regulations. 
The company’s gross credit risk exposure was EUR 971k per 
31st December 2012, not including inter-company receivables. 
EAM Solar has not made any financial arrangements to limit 
the credit risk further.

EAM Solar’s cash balance stood at EUR 714k at the end of 
2012, which is considered sufficient given the company’s cur-
rent asset base and level of activity.

EAM Solar ASA is sufficiently funded to conduct its busi-
ness, based on the company’s current level of activity, financ-

ing and risk level.
The company’s asset base and activity level may increase 

considerably as a result of planned expansion investments 
in 2013, which will be funded through a combination of eq-
uity and debt.

As described under ‘Events after the Balance Sheet date’, 
EAM Solar contemplates an equity issue to raise NOK 100-200 
million in connection with the planned IPO, and has already 
received indicated term sheets for debt financing.

transactions with related parties
EAM Solar Park Management AS is a related third party car-
rying out management and consulting services for EAM Solar 
ASA on a continuous basis under a Management Agreement. 
All transactions are being carried out as part of ordinary op-
erations and conducted at arms’ length.

Under the management agreement, EAM Solar Park Man-
agement can charge EAM Solar ASA for direct costs related to 
management services and is entitled to a royalty of 12.5% of 
the Groups profits. The royalty structure aligns the interest 
of EAM Solar Park Management AS with the interests of the 
shareholders of EAM Solar ASA (see note 9 for further details).

During 2012, EAM Solar ASA entered into a NOK 45 million 
shareholder loan agreement, secured by a first priority pledge 
over 10% of EAM Solar ASA’s shares in the Italian single pur-
pose vehicles, owning the assets and licenses related to the 
company’s existing solar power plants. The loan agreement 
expires on final maturity date 30th September 2014.

Under the agreement, EAM Solar ASA is obligated to repay 
the loan as quickly as possible through allocation of all free 
cash flow above the working capital requirements.

For further information about third-party agreements, 
please see note 9 on ‘Transactions with related parties’.

outlook
EAM Solar’s existing power plants are estimated to generate 
between 6.9 and 7.8 GWh of electricity in 2013, depending on 
the solar irradiation during the year.

This will generate revenues in the range of EUR 2.9 to 3,2 
million based on the plants Feed-in Tariffs and the Italian 2013 
forward electricity price of EUR 70/MWh.

EAM Solar is continuously evaluating growth opportuni-
ties in both the new-build market and the secondary market 
for already producing solar power plants, and the asset and 
revenue base may be significantly increased through acqui-
sitions during in 2013.

EAM Solar is in the process of securing the equity and debt 
funding required to fund its growth plans, and in February it 
renewed its application for an IPO and subsequent listing on 
Oslo Axess.

Presentation of financial statements
Pursuant to Section 3-3 of the Norwegian Accounting Act, the 
Board of Directors of EAM Solar ASA confirms that the finan-
cial statements have been prepared under the assumption 
that the enterprise is a going concern, and that this assump-
tion was appropriate at the date when the accounts were ap-
proved.

EAM Solar ASA reports its Consolidated Financial Statements 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. For more information, please 
refer to the notes on ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’.

Financial review
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Only limited comments are provided in respect of the figures 
from 2011, as the operational activities were limited.

Revenue and production
Revenue for the full year of 2012 amounted to EUR 3.11 mil-

lion, reflecting a reported production and external sale of 7.165 
MWh of electrical power generated at the company’s two so-
lar plants in Varmo (2 571 MWh) and Codroipo (4 595 MWh).

Revenue and production from the Codroipo plant was con-
solidated in the Income Statement with effect from 29th Feb-
ruary 2012. Including Codroipo from 1st January 2012 full-year 

 Content | About EAM Solar | Power plants | Corporate governance | Directors' report | Group accounts | Parent company accounts | 16 /  4 6



production was 7 808 MWh with an anticipated revenue of 
EUR 3.4 million.

All EAM Solar’s electricity sales are carried out under 20-year 
sale agreements under the Italian 2010 feed-in tariff scheme, 
with the Italian renewable energy executive authority GSE (Ge-
store Servizi Energetici) as commercial counter-party. Feed-in-
Tariffs account for approximately 80% of revenues with elec-
tricity sales at market prices accounting for the remaining 20%.

Market prices for electricity declined from approximately 
EUR 80/Mwh at the beginning of 2012 to approximately EUR 
70/MWh at the end of the year.

Operational cost
The cost of (technical) operations amounted to EUR 259k in 
2012, comprising mainly of operations and maintenance costs, 
land rent, security services and insurance. SG&A expenses 
amounted to EUR 1.13 million, reflecting mostly management 
costs and financial fees, and accounting, audit and tax advi-
sory services.

Cost reduction measures on technical and administrative 
operations resulted in an estimated 25% cost reduction from 
the first half to the second half of 2012. Workshops have been 
held with contractors and subcontractors to optimise techni-
cal operations and reduce cost and operational risk, and the 
operations & maintenance contract and commercial service 
agreement have been renegotiated. The same service level 
prices in the contracts have been lowered by 18% and 16%, 
respectively. The company has also changed accountancy 
service provider to reduce costs.

Cost related to acquisition and financing amounted to EUR 
908k for the full year 2012, of which merger and repatriation 
cost accounted for roughly half. The merger of Sistema Solar 
1 GmbH and EAM Solar Italy 2 Srl –the company owning the 
Codroipo power plant- was finalized in September 2012. This 
represented the completion of the purchase of the Friuli port-
folio in Varmo and Codroipo.

Operational earnings
Earnings before interest, depreciation and taxes (EBITDA) 
amounted to EUR 806k for the full year 2012, and EUR 1 714k 
adjusted for non-recurring items related to acquisition and 
transaction costs.

Depreciation amounted to EUR -1.0 million for the full year, 
whereas amortisation amounted to a positive EUR 2.6 million 
including a gain related to the acquisition of the Friuli assets.

Both the Varmo and Codroipo plants were purchased at 
a lower price than the fair value of the plant assets in the ac-
quired companies, and the difference is accounted for as a 
positive item under amortisation.

The carrying value of the power plants was EUR 19.5 mil-
lion per 31st December 2012, with the increase from EUR 13.7 
million from 31 December 2011 mainly explained by the ac-
quisition of the Codroipo plant which was consolidated with 
effect from 28th February 2012.

Operating profit (EBIT) for the full year in 2012 was thus EUR 2.4 
million, including the gain related to the Codroipo acquisition.

Net financial items
Net financial items amounted to EUR -1.8 million for the full 
year 2012, primarily interest of EUR 742k related to a bridge 
loan from the shareholders, and currency costs of EUR 1.1 mil-
lion, of which EUR 1.1 million is unrealized losses.

Profit before tax and net income after tax
Profit before tax amounted to EUR 590k for the full year 2012. 
Net tax amounted to EUR -61k, of which EUR -44k payable and 
EUR -17k deferred.

Reported net income after tax was thus EUR 529k for the 
full year 2012, and reported earnings per share EUR 0.44 on 
both a basic and diluted basis.  

Cash Flow and Balance Sheet Statements
Consolidated statement of financial position
Total assets amounted to EUR 22.1 million per 31st Decem-
ber 2012. This was an increase of EUR 6.5 million during the 

year, mainly relating to the increase in fixed assets as a result 
of the consolidation of the Codroipo power plant in the first 
quarter 2012.

Total equity amounted to EUR 15.5 million at the end of 
2012, an increase of EUR 1.3 million during the year. The eq-
uity ratio was 70.0% at the end of the year, with the decline 
from 91.2% at the end of 2011 explained by the part financ-
ing of investments through a bridge loan from shareholders.

Net working capital amounted to EUR 352k at the end of 
2012, excluding repayment of the bridge loan and the cash 
balance. The increase from a working capital excluding the 
cash balance of EUR -743k at the end of 2011 is explained by 
higher activity level.

Total interest bearing short-term loan were EUR 5.4 million 
at the end of 2012, reflecting a bridge loan from shareholders. 
The bridge loan initially amounted to EUR 5.9 million with an 
annual interest of 13%, and was primarily taken up to finance 
the Codroipo acquisition. EAM Solar has advanced the repay-
ment of the bridge loan compared with the original repay-
ment schedule.

EAM Solar Power Management is in dialogue with sev-
eral European banks concerning long-term debt financing of 
Varmo and Codroipo, and expects to finalise financing during 
the first half of 2013. Funds released will primarily be used to 
repay the bridge loan.

Cash Flow
Net cash flow from operating activities was EUR -2 million in 
2012, primarily reflecting EBITDA adjusted for non-cash items, 
income tax payment of EUR 727k and changes in other accru-
als of EUR -390k.

Net cash flow from operating activities in 2011 and 2012 are 
significantly impacted by the expensing of costs related to the 
acquisitions of Varmo and Codroipo. In 2012 cash costs related 
to expensed acquisition costs and financing (bridge loan and 
IPO preparation) of the Company amounted to a total of EUR 
1 955 million, of which EUR 907k were acquisition costs, EUR 
502k were taxes payable in the acquired companies and EUR 
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546k interest costs on the Shareholder loan.
When excluding non-recurring items like acquisition costs, 

IPO preparations, and also interest paid on shareholder loans, 
the company had a positive cash flow from operations before 
tax of approximately EUR 2 million in 2012.

Net cash flow from investing activities was EUR -11.7 mil-
lion in 2012, mainly relating to the acquisition of the Codroipo 
power plant.

Net cash flow from financing activities amounted to EUR 
5.4 million, which mainly reflects borrowings in the form of a 
bridge loan from shareholders.

Cash and cash equivalents stood at EUR 714k at the end of 
2012, compared to EUR 8.0 million at the end of 2011.

EAM Solar ASA is sufficiently funded to conduct its busi-
ness, based on the company’s current level of activity, financ-
ing and risk level.

Based on the outcome of the IPO and capital increase, EAM 
Solar ASA will adapt planned expansion investments to its 
availability of funds.

eAM Solar ASA (parent company)
Profit & Loss Statement:
Revenues are presented as the net of management services 
provided to subsidiaries and management services purchased 
(see note 3). Operational costs mainly consist of purchased 
services and are highly affected by the IPO process and acqui-
sition in 2012. The financial result for 2012 is NOK 13.7 million 
and is the net of interest income on loans to subsidiaries, agio 
effects on loans in Euros, and interests on short term loan to 
shareholders. See note 11. Taxes of NOK 666 thousand con-
sists of withholding tax on accrued interests from subsidiar-
ies. Profit after tax for 2012 is negative by NOK 13.1 million.

Balance sheet
Total assets amounts to NOK 149 million of which NOK 141.6 
million is intergroup interest bearing receivables, and NOK 
4.8 million in trade receivables to group companies. Cash 
amounts to NOK 1.8 million. Total equity amounts to NOK 
103.7 million, 70% of total assets. Current liabilities amounts to 

NOK 42.3 million of which NOK 39.8 million is interest bearing 
loans to shareholders, and NOK 4.7 million is trade payables.

Cash flow
Net cash flow from operational activities is negative by NOK 
7.3 million. Net cash flow from investing activities is negative 
by NOK 86.6 million explained by acquisition during 2012. Net 
cash flow from financing activity is positive by NOK 39.8 due 
to net proceeds of borrowings from shareholders.

Allocation of the results
The Board of Directors has proposed that the net income of 
EAM Solar ASA of NOK -13 103 837 is allocated to share pre-
mium. The company had none distributable equity per 31st 
December 2012.

Oslo, 8th of March 2013

Viktor E. Jakobsen
Chairman of the Board

Ingelise Arntsen
Board member

Paal E. Johnsen
Board member

Audun W. Iversen
Managing Director
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ConSoliDAteD 
StateMent of coMprehenSiVe incoMe
(EUR) Note

1.1–31.12 
2012

5.1–31.12 
2011

Total revenue 5 3 106 472 340 075

Cost of operations 6, 7 (259 260) (25 230)
Sales, general and administration expenses 6, 7, 8, 9 (1 133 138) (342 639)
Acquisition and transaction costs 7 (907 671) (1 122 832)
eBitda 806 403 (1 150 626)

Depreciation, amortizations and write downs 13 (1 036 269) (148 012)
Gain on bargain purchase 2 2 668 237 -
eBit 2 438 371 (1 298 638)

Finance income 10 4 711 86 740
Finance costs 10 (1 853 042) (128 021)
profit before tax 590 040 (1 339 919)

Income tax gain/(expense ) 11 (61 171) 355 330
profit after tax 528 869 (984 589)

other comprehensive income
Translation differences 812 044 236 114
other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 812 044 236 114

total comprehensive income for the year 1 340 913 (748 475)

Profit for the year attributable to:
equity holders of the parent company 528 869 (984 589)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
equity holders of the parent company 1 340 913 (748 475)

earnings per share: Note 2012 2011

Continued operation
- Basic 12 0.44 (1.15)
- Diluted 12 0.44 (1.15)

ConSoliDAteD 
financial inforMation

Consolidated Statement of comprehensive 
income 19

Consolidated statement of financial position 20

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 21

Consolidated cash flow statement 21

notes to consolidated financial statements 22
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies 22
Note 2:  Changes in the group’s structure 26
Note 3:  List of subsidiaries 26
Note 4:  Significant accounting judgments, estimates 

and assumptions 27
Note 5:  Segment information 27
Note 6:  Other Operating Expenses 28
Note 7:  Operational costs break-down 2012 28
Note 8:  Salary and personnel expense and 

management remuneration 28
Note 9:  Transactions with related parties 29
Note 10:  Financial income and expenses 30
Note 11:  Income tax 30
Note 12:  Earnings per share 31
Note 13:  Property, plant and equipment 31
Note 14:  Contractual obligations 32
Note 15:  Financial risk management 32
Note 16:  Trade receivables 33
Note 17:  Other current assets 33
Note 18:  Cash and cash equivalents 33
Note 19:  Share capital, shareholder information and 

dividend 33
Note 20:  Power production and operations 34
Note 21:  Events after the balance sheet date 35

Directors responsibility statement 44

Auditor's report 45
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ConSoliDAteD 
StateMent of financial poSition
(EUR) Note 31.12.12 31.12.11

aSSetS
non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 2, 13 19 533 095 6 563 352
Deferred tax asset 11 338 210 355 330
total non-current assets 19 871 305 6 918 682

current assets
Trade receivable 16 950 882 429 266
Other current assets 17 598 551 209 770
Cash and cash equivalents 18 713 730 8 000 351
total current assets 2 263 163 8 639 387

total aSSetS 22 134 468 15 558 069

(EUR) Note 31.12.12 31.12.11

eQUitY and liaBilitieS
equity
paid in capital
Issued capital 19 1 523 423 1 523 423
Share premium 19 13 400 695 13 400 695
total paid in capital 14 924 118 14 924 118

Other equity
Translation differences 1 048 158 236 114
Other equity (455 720) (984 589)
total other equity 592 438 (748 475)

total equity 15 516 556 14 175 643

current liabilities
Trade payables 1 004 610 590 729
Income tax payable 11 164 106 175 591
Short term loan - interest bearing 9 5 420 265 -
Other current liabilities 28 931 616 106
total current liabilities 6 617 912 1 382 426

total liabilities 6 617 912 1 382 426

total eQUitY and liaBilitieS 22 134 468 15 558 069

Oslo, 8th of March 2013

Viktor E. Jakobsen
Chairman of the Board

Ingelise Arntsen
Board member

Paal E. Johnsen
Board member

Audun W. Iversen
Managing Director
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ConSoliDAteD 
StateMent of changeS in eQUitY

(EUR)
Share 

capital

Share 
premium 

fund
Other 

equity

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

total 
equity

equity as at 05.01.2011 
(date of incorporation) 12 838 - - - 12 838
Capital decrease 14.04.2011 (12 838) - - - (12 838)
Capital increase 14.04.2011 1 523 423 13 710 804 - - 15 234 227
Costs related to capital increase - (310 109) - - (310 109)
Profit (loss) after tax - - (984 589) - (984 589)
Other comprehensive income - - - 236 114 236 114
equity as at 31.12.2011 1 523 423 13 400 695 (984 589) 236 114 14 175 643

equity as at 1.1.2012 1 523 423 13 400 695 (984 589) 236 114 14 175 643
Profit (loss) after tax - - 528 869 - 528 869
Other comprehensive income - - - 812 044 812 044
equity as at 31.12.2012 1 523 423 13 400 695 (455 720) 1 048 158 15 516 556

ConSoliDAteD 
caSh flow StateMent
(EUR)
(1 January - 31 December) Note

1.1–31.12 
2012

5.1–31.12 
2011

cash flow from operating activities
Ordinary profit before tax 590 040 (1 339 919)
Income taxes paid (727 658) -
Depreciation 13 1 036 269 148 012
Gain on bargain purchase 2 (2 668 237) -
Changes in trade receivable and trade payable 130 944 861 238
Changes in other accruals (390 824) 188 526
net cash flow from operating activities (2 029 466) (142 143)

cash flows from investing activities
Additions on subsidiary (73 685) -
Aquisition of subsidiary, net of cash aquired 2 (11 696 898) (6 933 426)
net cash flow used in investing activities (11 770 583) (6 933 426)

cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital - 14 924 118
Proceeds from borrowings 6 106 249 -
Repayment of loans (685 984) -
net cash flow from financing activities 5 420 265 14 924 118

Net currency translation effect 1 093 163 151 802
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equvivalents (7 286 621) 8 000 351
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 8 000 351 -
cash and cash equivalents at end of period 713 730 8 000 351
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noteS to ConSoliDAteD 
financial StateMentS

notE 1:  SuMMAry of SiGnifiCAnt ACCountinG poliCieS

The consolidated financial statement of EAM Solar, 
for the year ending 31st December 2012 was author-
ized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
Board on 8th March 2013. EAM Solar ASA is a public lim-
ited company, incorporated and domiciled in Norway. 
The registered office of EAM Solar ASA is Dronningen 
1, N-0287 Oslo, Norway. The Company was founded 
on 5th January 2011. EAM Solar ASA owns and oper-
ates photovoltaic power plants in Italy, and will invest 
in photovoltaic power plants in Europe. The company 
has three subsidiaries in Italy.

1.1  Basis for preparation of the financial 
statement

The EAM Solar Group’s consolidated financial state-
ments have been prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards, which have 
been adopted by the EU and are mandatory for fi-
nancial years beginning on or after 1st January 2012 
(“IFRS”).

The consolidated financial statements are based 
on historical cost.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on the basis of uniform accounting princi-
ples for similar transactions and events under other-
wise similar circumstances.

The Group’s presentation currency is Euro (EUR) 
and the parent company’s functional currency is NOK.  
Balance sheet items are grouped in companies, those 
with a functional currency other than EUR are con-
verted to Euro by applying the currency rate applica-
ble on the balance sheet per date.  Currency conver-
sion differences are booked against other comprehen-

sive income.  Income statement items are converted 
by applying the average currency rate for the period.

1.2  Consolidation principles
The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries 
of 31st December 2012. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group ob-
tains control, and continue to be consolidated un-
til the date when such control ceases. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using 
consistent accounting policies. All intra-group bal-
ances, transactions, unrealized gains and losses re-
sulting from intra-group transactions and dividends 
are eliminated in full.

The acquisition method is applied when account-
ing for business combinations.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, 
without loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
• De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and 

liabilities of the subsidiary
• De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-con-

trolling interest
• De-recognises the cumulative transaction differ-

ences recorded in equity
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components pre-

viously recognised in other comprehensive income 
to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

1.3  the use of estimates when preparing the 
financial statements

The management has used estimates and assump-
tions that have affected assets, liabilities, incomes, 
expenses, deferred tax asset and information on po-
tential liabilities. This particularly applies to the depre-
ciation of tangible fixed assets and evaluations related 
to acquisitions. Future events may lead to these esti-
mates being changed. Estimates and their underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis. Changes 
in accounting estimates are recognised during the pe-
riod when the changes take place. If the changes also 
apply to future periods, the effect is accounted for pro-
spectively. Refer also to note 4.

1.4  Foreign currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are 
presented in euro. Each entity in the Group determines 
its own functional currency and items included in the 
financial statements of each entity are measured us-
ing that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the 
rate applicable on the transaction date. Monetary 
items in a foreign currency are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rate applica-
ble at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates as of the date(s) of the initial transaction(s). Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign cur-
rency are translated using the exchange rate of the 

date when the fair value is determined. Changes in ex-
change rates are recognised in the statement of com-
prehensive income as they occur during the account-
ing period.

Foreign operations
On consolidation the assets and liabilities of opera-
tions with a functional currency other than EUR are 
translated to EUR at the rate of exchange prevailing 
at the reporting date and their statements of compre-
hensive income are translated at exchange rates pre-
vailing at the dates of the transactions. The average 
exchange rates are used as an approximation of the 
transaction exchange rate. The exchange differences 
arising from translation for consolidation are recog-
nised as other comprehensive incomes. On disposal 
of a foreign operation, the accumulated translation 
differences relating to the subsidiary are recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

Translation differences due to the translation of a 
net investment in foreign operations are specified as 
translation differences in the statement of equity.

1.5  Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of 
when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at 
the fair value of the consideration received or receiv-
able, taking into account contractually defined terms 
of payment and excluding taxes or duty. The Group as-
sesses its revenue arrangements against specific cri-
teria to determine if it is acting as a principal or agent. 
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The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal 
in all of its revenue arrangements. The specific recog-
nition criteria described below must also be met be-
fore revenue is recognised.

Sale of solar power
EAM Solar owns and operates two solar power plants 
in Italy that produce electrical power. Revenue from 
the sale of electrical power is recognised in the state-
ment of comprehensive income once delivery has 
taken place and the risk and return has been trans-
ferred.

Interest income
For all financial instruments measured at amortised 
cost, interest income or expense is recorded using the 
effective interest rate (EIR), which is the rate that ex-
actly discounts the estimated future cash payments 
or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to 
the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liabil-
ity. Interest income is included in the finance income 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.6  Segments
The group’s activities are uniform, where the business 
strategy is to operate solar power plants in different 
European countries. For management purposes, the 
Group is organised into segments related to the indi-
vidual solar power plants. The financial information 
relating to segments is presented in Note 5.

Internal gains on sales between the various seg-
ments are eliminated in the segment reporting.

1.7  Income tax
The income tax consists of the tax payable and 
changes to deferred tax. Deferred tax liabilities/tax 
assets are calculated on all differences between the 
carrying and tax value of assets and liabilities, with 
the exception of:
• Temporary differences related to investments in 

subsidiaries when the Group controls when the tem-
porary differences are to be reversed and this is not 
expected to take place in the foreseeable  future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is prob-
able that the company will have a sufficient profit for 
tax purposes in subsequent periods to utilise the de-
ferred tax asset. The companies recognise previously 
unrecognised deferred tax assets to the extent that it 
has become probable for the company to utilise the 
deferred tax asset. Similarly, the company will reduce 
a deferred tax asset to the extent that the company no 
longer regards it as probable and that it can utilise the 
deferred tax asset.

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are 
measured on the basis of the expected future tax rates 
applicable to the companies in the Group where tem-
porary differences have arisen.

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are 
recognised at their nominal value and classified as 
non-current asset investments (long-term liabilities) 
in the balance sheet. Taxes payable and deferred taxes 
are recognised directly in equity to the extent that they 
relate to equity transactions.

1.8  Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment (including solar 
power plants) are valued at their cost, less accumu-
lated depreciation and impairment losses. When as-
sets are sold or disposed of, the carrying amount is 
de-recognised and any gain or loss is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

The cost of tangible non-current assets is the pur-
chase price, including taxes/duties and costs directly 
linked to preparing the asset ready for its intended use. 
Costs incurred after the asset is in use, such as regular 
maintenance costs, are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income as incurred, while other costs 
that are expected to provide future financial benefits 
are capitalised.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 
method over the following useful life:
• Movers, modules and cable connectors  20 years
• Inverters 11 years
• Control and transmission system 11 years
• Other installations 20 years

The depreciation period and method are assessed 

each year. A residual value is estimated at each year-
end, and changes to the estimated residual value are 
recognised as a change in an estimate.

1.9  Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the ac-
quisition method. The cost of an acquisition is meas-
ured as the aggregate of the consideration trans-
ferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired 
company. For each business combination, the Group 
elects whether it measures the non-controlling inter-
est in the acquiree either at fair value or at the propor-
tionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition costs incurred are expensed. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the 
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropri-
ate classification and designation in accordance with 
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as of the acquisition date. This 
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in 
host contracts by the acquiree. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, 
the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previ-
ously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeas-
ured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit 
and loss. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by 
the acquirer will be recognised at fair value on the ac-
quisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of 
the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an 
asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with 
IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. If the contingent considera-
tion is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured. 
Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
In instances where the contingent consideration does 
not fall within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in ac-
cordance with the appropriate IFRS. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the ex-
cess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred 
and the amount recognised for non-controlling inter-
est over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabili-
ties assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair 

value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognised as profit or loss. 

After initial recording, goodwill is measured at cost 
less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in 
a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 
that are expected to benefit from the combination, ir-
respective of whether other assets or liabilities of the 
acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating 
unit and part of the operation within that unit is dis-
posed of, the goodwill associated with the operation 
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss of the 
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance 
is measured based on the relative valued of the op-
eration disposed of and the portion of the cash-gen-
erating unit retained.

Bargain purchase transactions
If the net of the acquisition date fair-values of identi-
fiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed ex-
ceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred 
(measured at acquisition date fair-values), the excess 
amount is recognised as a gain in the statement of 
comprehensive income on the acquisition date.

Having done so the Company has reviewed the pro-
cedures used to measure all of the following:
• The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities as-

sumed;
• The non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any;
• The consideration transferred

In 2012 the Company recognised a gain related to a 
bargain purchase transaction due to the financial sit-
uation of the seller.

1.10  Financial instruments
Financial instruments are classified in the following 
categories: at fair value with changes in value through 
profit or loss, held to maturity, loans and receivables, 
available for sale and other liabilities.

The Group has financial instruments in the form of 
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trade receivable and trade payable, recognised at am-
ortised cost.

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair 
value plus any transaction costs. Trade receivables 
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, if the amortisation effect 
is material. The carrying amount is subsequently re-
duced by any impairment losses. Provisions for im-
pairments are made when there are objective indica-
tors that the group will not receive their contractual 
payments.

The carrying amount of trade receivable and trade 
payable is approximately equal to fair value, as they 
are agreed at “normal” conditions and normally have 
a short period to maturity.

1.11  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand and at bank. Cash equiva-
lents are short-term liquid investments that can be im-
mediately converted into a known amount of cash and 
have a maximum term to maturity of three months.

1.12  equity
Equity and liabilities
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or 
equity in accordance with the underlying economi-
cal realities.

Interest, dividend, gains and losses relating to a fi-
nancial instrument classified as a liability will be pre-
sented as an expense or income. Amounts distributed 
to holders of financial instruments that are classified 
as equity will be recorded directly in equity.

Costs of equity transactions
Transaction costs directly related to an equity trans-
action are recognised directly in equity after deduct-
ing tax expenses.

Other equity
Translation differences
Translation differences arise in connection with ex-
change-rate differences of consolidated entities with 
a different functional currency other than EUR. 

If an entity with a different functional currency other 

than EUR is sold, the accumulated translation differ-
ence linked to the entity is reversed and recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income in the same 
period as the gain or loss on the sale is recognised.

1.13  Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has an obli-
gation (legal or constructive) as a result of a previous 
event, it is probable (more likely than not) that a finan-
cial settlement will take place as a result of this obli-
gation and the size of the amount can be measured 
reliably. If the effect is considerable, the provision is 
calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows 
using a discount rate before tax that reflects the mar-
ket’s pricing at the time, value of money and, if rele-
vant, risks specifically linked to the obligation.

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the 
Group has approved a detailed, formal restructuring 
plan and the restructuring has either started or been 
publicly announced.

Provisions for loss-making contracts are recognised 
when the Group’s estimated revenues from a contract 
are lower than unavoidable costs that were incurred to 
meet the obligations pursuant to the contract.

1.14  Contingent liabilities and assets
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the an-
nual accounts. Significant contingent liabilities are 
disclosed, with the exception of contingent liabilities 
that are unlikely to be incurred.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the annual 
accounts but are disclosed if there is a certain prob-
ability that a benefit will be added to the Group.

1.15  Current/non-current classification
All assets and liabilities related to the operating cycle 
are classified as current/short-term. For receivables 
and liabilities outside the operating cycle, the current/
non-current distinction is determined based on a one-
year maturity-rule as from the acquisition date.

1.16  earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the major-
ity shareholders share of the profit/loss for the period 

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding over the course of the period. When cal-
culating diluted earnings per share, the average num-
ber of shares outstanding is adjusted for all share op-
tions that have a potential dilutive effect. Options that 
have a dilutive effect are treated as shares from the 
date they are issued.

1.17  events after the reporting period
New information on the company’s financial position 
at the end of the reporting period, which becomes 
known after the reporting period, is recorded in the 
annual accounts. Events after the reporting period 
that do not affect the company’s financial position at 
the end of the reporting period but which will affect 
the company’s financial position in the future are dis-
closed if significant. See note 23.

1.18  Adoption of new and revised accounting 
standards and interpretations

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with 
those of the previous financial year except for the follow-
ing amendments to IFRS effective as of 1st January 2012:

IAS 12 Income Taxes (amendment) – Deferred Taxes: 
Recovery of underlying assets

IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (amendment) – severe Hy-
perinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-Time 
adopters

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – En-
hanced De-recognition Disclosure Requirements

The Group has not earlier, adopted any Standards 
or Interpretations in 2012. These amendments have 
had no effect on the Group’s financial position, per-
formance or its disclosures.

Approved IFRSs and IFRICs with future 
effective dates
Standards and interpretations that are issued up to the 
date of issuance of the consolidated financial state-
ments, but not yet effective are disclosed below. The 
Group’s intention is to adopt the relevant new and 
amended standards and interpretations when they 
become effective, subject to EU approval before the 

consolidated financial statements are issued.
The Group anticipates that all of the standards, 

amendments and interpretations (listed below) will 
be adopted in the Group’s financial statements for the 
period commencing 1st January 2013 or after and that 
the adoption of those interpretations will have no ma-
terial impact on the financial statements of the Group 
in the period of initial application:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendments to IAS 1 imply that the items pre-
sented in other comprehensive income (OCI) shall be 
grouped in two categories. Items that could be reclas-
sified to profit or loss at a future point in time (for exam-
ple, net gained on hedge of net investment, exchange 
differences on translation of foreign operations, net 
movement on cash flow hedges and net gain or loss on 
available-for-sale financial assets) shall be presented 
separately from items that will never be reclassified 
(for example, actuarial gains and losses on defined 
benefit plans). The amendments affect the presenta-
tion only and have no impact on the Group’s financial 
position or performance. The amendments became 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st 
July 2012, and will therefore be applied in the Group’s 
first annual report after becoming effective.

IAS 12 Income Taxes
The amendment clarifies the determination of de-
ferred tax on investment property measured at fair 
value and introduces a rebuttable presumption that 
deferred tax on investment property measured using 
the fair value model in IAS 40 shall be determined on 
the basis that its carrying amount will be recovered 
through sale. The presumption can be rebutted if two 
specific criteria have been met. The amendment also 
includes an implementation of SIC 21 – Income Taxes 
– Recovery of Revalued Non-depreciable Assets stat-
ing that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets meas-
ured using to the revaluation model in IAS 16 Property, 
Plant and Equipment shall always be measured on a 
sale basis. Within the EU/EEA area, the amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1st January 2013.
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IAS 19 Employee Benefits
The IASB has issued numerous amendments to IAS 
19. These range from fundamental changes such as 
removing the corridor mechanism and the concept 
of expected returns on plan assets to simple clarifica-
tions and rewording. Removing the corridor mecha-
nism implies that actuarial gains and losses shall be 
recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) in 
the current period. The amendments to IAS 19 will im-
pact the net benefit expense, as the expected return 
on plan assets will be calculated using the same inter-
est rate as applied for the purpose of discounting the 
benefit obligation.

The amendments are effective for accounting peri-
ods beginning on or after 1st January 2013.

IAS 28 Investment in Associates and Joint 
Ventures
As a consequence of the new standards IFRS 11 Joint 
Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities, IAS 28 Investments in Associates has 
been renamed IAS 28 Investment in Associates and 
Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the 
equity method to investments in joint ventures in addi-
tion to associates. Within the EU/EEA area, the amend-
ments are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1st January 2014.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
IAS 32 is amended in order to clarify the meaning of 
"currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off" and 
the application of the IAS 32 offsetting criteria to settle-
ment systems (such as central clearing house systems) 
which apply gross settlement mechanisms that are 
not simultaneous. The amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2014.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
The amendments imply that entities are required to 
disclose information about rights to set-off and related 
arrangements (e.g. collateral agreements). The dis-
closures would provide users with information that is 
useful in evaluating the effect of netting agreements 
on an entity’s financial position. The new disclosures 

are required for all recognised financial instruments 
that are set off in accordance with IAS 32 Financial In-
struments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply to 
recognised financial instruments that are subject to 
an enforceable master netting arrangement or simi-
lar agreement, irrespective of whether they are set off 
in accordance with IAS 32. The amendments will not 
impact the Group’s financial position or performance 
and become effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1st January 2013 and interim periods within 
those annual periods.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and 
Measurement
IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of IASB’s work 
on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to the clas-
sification and measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. The standard 
was initially effective for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1st January 2013, but amendments to IFRS 
9 issued in December 2011 moved the mandatory ef-
fective date to 1st January 2015. Subsequent phases 
of this project will address hedge accounting and im-
pairment of financial assets.

The Group will evaluate potential effects of IFRS 9 in 
accordance with the other phases as soon as the final 
standard, including all phases, is issued.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 
27 Separate Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the 
accounting for consolidated financial statements and 
SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.

IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that ap-
plies to all entities including special purpose entities. 
The changes introduced by IFRS 10 will require man-
agement to exercise significant judgment to determine 
which entities are controlled and therefore required 
to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the re-
quirements that were in IAS 27. As a result, the Group 
has evaluated the entities to be consolidated pursu-
ant to IFRS 10 and compared with the requirements 
of the current IAS 27.

 Within the EU/EEA area, IFRS 10 is effective for an-
nual periods starting on or after 2014.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
This standard replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ven-
tures and SIC-13 Jointly controlled Entities – Non-mon-
etary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 removes the 
option to account for jointly controlled entities (JCEs) 
using proportionate consolidation. All entities meet-
ing the definition of a joint venture must be accounted 
for using the equity method. Within the EU/EEA area, 
IFRS 11 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1st January 2014.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 applies for enterprises with interests in sub-
sidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and struc-
tured entities. IFRS 12 replaces the disclosure require-
ments that were previously included in IAS 27 Con-
solidated and Separate Financial Statements, IAS 28 
Investments in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint 
Ventures.  A number of new disclosures are also re-
quired, but have no impact on the Group’s financial 
position or performance. Within the EU/EEA area, IFRS 
12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1st January 2014.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
The standard establishes a single source of guidance 
under IFRS for all fair value measurements, i.e. for re-
quirements of all standards related to measuring fair 
value for assets and obligations. IFRS 13 is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2013.

Annual Improvements 2009-2011
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify the difference be-
tween voluntary additional comparative information 
and the minimum required comparative information. 
Generally, the presentation of the previous period’s 
comparative information will meet the minimum re-
quirements. The amendments have no impact on the 
Group’s financial position or performance and are ef-
fective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st 

January 2013, but the EU has not yet approved the 
amendments.

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
The amendment clarifies that major spare parts 
and servicing equipment that meet the definition of 
property, plant and equipment are not inventory. The 
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1st January 2013, but has not yet been ap-
proved by the EU.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
The amendment clarifies that income taxes aris-
ing from distributions to equity holders shall be ac-
counted for in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes. 
The amendment is effective for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1st January 2013, but has not yet been 
approved by the EU.
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notE 2:  ChAnGeS in the Group’S StruCture

Business combinations:
Cosecha Solar GmbH:
On 31st August 2011, EAM Solar ASA acquired 100% of the voting shares in Cosecha Solar GmbH for MEUR 7.5 
through its fully owned subsidiary EAM Solar Italy 1 Srl. The acquisition was conducted in cash. Cosecha So-
lar GmbH was a German company with a permanent establishment in Italy and a solar plant located in Italy. 
Cosecha Solar GmbH has merged with EAM Solar Italy 1 Srl effective from 27th December 2011. The company 
runs and operates a solar plant close to the city of Varmo in the Friuli region in Northern Italy.

Sistema Solar 1 GmbH
On 29th February 2012, EAM Solar ASA acquired 100% of the voting shares in Sistema Solar 1 GmbH for MEUR 
12.7 through its fully owned subsidiary EAM Solar Italy 2 Srl. The acquisition was paid in cash. Sistema Solar 1 
GmbH was a German company with a permanent establishment in Italy and a solar plant located in Italy. Sis-
tema Solar 1 GmbH plans to merge with EAM Solar Italy 2 Srl in 2012. The company runs and operates a solar 
plant close to the city of Codroipo in the Friuli region in Northern Italy.

The purchase price allocations have been performed by the company.

The net assets acquired in the acquisition of Sistema Solar 1 GmbH and Cosecha Solar GmbH are as follows:

cosecha Solar gmbh Fair value recognised 
on acquisition

Cash and cash equivalents 107 687
Trade accounts receivable 699 885
Other receivables 154 527
Fixed assets 6 711 364
Accruals for taxes in Italy (175 591)
Other current payables (6 759)
total identifiable net assets at fair value 7 491 113

Cash 7 041 113
Deferred payment 450 000
total consideration 7 491 113

Cash paid (7 041 113)
Cash in acquired entities 1 107 687
net cash flow on acquisition (6 933 426)

1 Of the kEUR 107.7 in cash received, kEUR 90 are restricted cash. A total of kEUR 464 of transaction costs have been expensed 
as part of the acquisition. If the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of 2011, revenues for 2011 and profit before taxes 
for 2011 for the group would have been kEUR 1 177 and kEUR -284 respectively.

Sistema Solar 1 gmbh Fair value recognised 
on acquisition

Cash and cash equivalents 1 464 084
Trade accounts receivable 284 648
Other receivables 70 670
Fixed assets 13 932 326
Accruals for taxes in Italy (326 540)
Other current payables (45 969)
total identifiable net assets at fair value 15 379 219
Gain on bargain purchase from the acquisition (2 668 237)
total consideration 12 710 982

Cash 12 450 000
Deferred payment 260 982
total consideration 12 710 982

Cash paid (12 450 000)
Cash in acquired entities 1 464 084
net cash flow on acquisition (10 985 916)

As part of the acquisition, the group has identified a gain on bargain purchase of EUR 2.668k for Varmo and 
Codroipo combined, which has been recognized as a gain accounted for under amortisations. The gain is 
based on the recognition of the difference between the book value and the acquisition price of the asset.
The reason why the transaction resulted in a gain was the financial situation of the seller.

If the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of 2012, revenues for 2012 and profit before taxes for 2012 
for the Group would have been EUR 3.39 million and EUR 582k respectively.

notE 3:  liSt of SuBSiDiArieS

The following subsidiaries are included in the interim consolidated financial statements:

Company
Country of 
incorporation

Main 
operations

Ownership 
interest

Voting 
power

EAM Solar Italy 1 Srl 1 Italy Solarpark 100% 100%
EAM Solar Italy 2 Srl 2 Italy Solarpark 100% 100%
EAM Solar Italy 3 Srl Italy Solarpark 100% 100%

1 Merged with Cosecha Solar GmbH in 2011
2 Merged with Sistema Solar GmbH in 2012
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notE 4:  SiGnifiCAnt ACCountinG juDGMentS, eStiMAteS AnD 
ASSuMptionS

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies in accordance with IFRS, management has made 
several judgments and estimates. All estimates are assessed to the most probable outcome based on the man-
agements’ best knowledge. Changes in key assumptions may have significant effect and may cause material 
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, equity and the profit for the year.

The company's most important accounting estimates are the following items:

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets, see also note 13
Depreciation and amortisation expenses are based on management estimates of residual value, amortisation 
method and the future useful life of solar power plants. Estimates may change due to technological develop-
ments, competition, changes in market conditions and other factors and may result in changes in the esti-
mated useful life and in the amortisation or depreciation charges. The estimated useful life of the company's 
solar power plants is connected with the governmental guaranteed Feed-in Tariff for electricity produced by 
solar power plants. The Feed-in Tariffs give  guaranteed revenue from the government of 20 years from the 
time of the license was granted. Together with the fact that the technological lifetime of the solar plant is at 
least 20 years, we assume that the estimated useful life of these power plants are 20 years. The inverters have 
been assessed to have a shorter useful life of 11 years.

the fair value of assets and liabilities in business acquisitions, see also note 2  
Management is required to allocate the cost of acquisition of acquired companies to the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. Such valuations require management to make sig-
nificant judgments in selecting valuation methods, estimates and assumptions. Management’s estimates of 
fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and un-
predictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates.

notE 5:  SeGMent inforMAtion

EAM Solar Group owns and operates two solar power plants (Varmo and Codroipo) in Italy as of 30th December 
2012. The business is investing in and operating solar power plants, which have similar economic characteris-
tics. The management monitor the business based on each individual power plant.

EAM Italy 1 owns the Varmo power plant and EAM Italy 2 owns the Codroipo power plant.

eaM italy 1 2012 2011

Revenues from external customers 1 091 419 340 075
EBITDA 495 376 (666 867)
EBIT 111 723 (814 880)
Additions of property, plant and equipment 30 850 6 711 364
Non-current assets 6 511 069 6 870 221

eaM italy 2 2012 2011

Revenues from external customers 2 015 052 -
EBITDA 769 240 -
EBIT 2 784 861 -
Additions of property, plant and equipment 13 975 162 -
Non-current assets 13 708 756 -

other/eliminations 2012 2011

Revenues from external customers 1 -
EBITDA (458 213) (483 759)
EBIT (458 213) (483 759)
Additions of property, plant and equipment - -
Non-current assets (348 520) 132 764

total 2012 2011

Revenues from external customers 3 106 472 340 075
EBITDA 806 403 (1 150 626)
EBIT 2 438 371 (1 298 638)
Additions of property, plant and equipment 14 006 012 6 711 364
Non-current assets 19 871 305 7 002 985

Non-current assets consist of the solar power plants in Italy, and deferred tax asset in Italy.

Information about major customers
All the groups’ revenues of EUR 3 106 472 in year 2012 consisted of sale of electrical power from its solar power 
plants in Italy, of which all arose from sale to the Group's largest customer, GSE. This was also the case for 2011.
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notE 6:  other operAtinG expenSeS

Specification auditor's fee 2012 2011

Statutory audit 40 000 56 174
Other assurance services 64 900 5 045
Other non-assurance services 26 500 -
Tax consultant services 2 300 33 819
total 133 700 95 038

VAT is not included in the fees specified above.

notE 7:  operAtionAl CoStS BreAk-DoWn 2012

(EUR) EAM Solar ASA
EAMSI1 

(Varmo)
EAMSI2 

(Codroipo)
EAMS Norway 
& Eliminations

revenues 3 106 472 1 091 419 2 015 052 1

cost of operations (259 260) (112 567) (146 693) -
Land rent (105 427) (34 695) (70 732) -
Insurance (44 356) (17 946) (26 410) -
Operation & Maintenance (124 839) (54 301) (70 539) -
Other operations costs 15 363 (5 625) 20 988 -

Sales, general & administration (1 133 138) (365 916) (672 529) (94 693)
Commercial management (55 000) (27 500) (27 500) -
Accounting, audit & legal fees (167 225) (20 978) (48 198) (98 049)
Financial & tax fees (96 822) (59 802) (33 070) (3 950)
Other external fees (15 668) (240) - (15 428)
EAM SPM direct costs (671 047) (208 743) (489 063) 26 759
EAM SPM management service contract - - - -
Other administrative costs (127 376) (48 654) (74 698) (4 024)

acquisition & financing cost (907 671) (117 560) (426 589) (363 522)
Acquisition transaction costs (169 411) (33 757) (134 978) (676)
Merger & repatriation costs (405 517) (65 582) (319 852) (20 083)
IPO & financing costs (373 468) (15 240) (15 465) (342 763)
Other non-recurring items 40 725 (2 980) 43 705 -

eBitda 806 402 495 376 769 240 (458 214)

Other administrative costs include the Italian IMU tax (property tax). The property tax is treated and booked 
as operating costs under SG&A.

notE 8:  SAlAry AnD perSonnel expenSe AnD MAnAGeMent 
reMunerAtion

The company has no employees for 2012 or 2011, and has no salary or personnel expenses.

Management remuneration
The Group Management consists of the group CEO. Other management services are provided by EAM Solar 

Park Management AS, see note 9.
The CEO and Board of Directors are employed by EAM Solar Park Management AS, and receive its remu-

neration from this company.  See note 8 for description of the management agreement with EAM Solar Park 
Management AS.

Both the CEO and the Chairman of the Board of EAM Solar ASA indirectly hold shares in EAM Solar Park 
Management AS.

No member of the Group Management has received remuneration or economic benefits from other com-
panies in the Group, other than what is stated above. 

No loans or guarantees have been given to any members of the Group Management, the Board of Direc-
tors or other corporate bodies.

Shares held by group Management and Board members:

Audun W. Iversen, CEO -
Viktor Erik Jakobsen (Chairman) -
Paal Espen Johnsen (Board Member) 1 -
Ingelise Arntsen (Board Member) -
total -

1 Paal Espen Johnsen is Managing Director of Alden AS that owns 50 000 shares in EAM Solar ASA.
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notE 9:  trAnSACtionS With relAteD pArtieS

related parties transactions

EAM Solar Park Management AS Management and consulting services

transactions with related parties
All the transactions have been carried out as part of the ordinary operations and at arms’ length prices. 

EAM Solar Park Management AS delivers management services to EAM Solar ASA according to a manage-
ment agreement between the parties. According to this agreement, EAM Solar Park Management AS can charge 
EAM Solar ASA for direct costs related to the management services provided,  amounts above NOK 5 million 
a year shall be approved by the Board of Directors in EAM Solar ASA.

Furthermore, EAM Solar Park Management AS receives 12,5% of the Groups profit as a royalty from EAM 
Solar ASA (financial participation mechanism). The royalty is based on the fact EAM Solar ASA is developed, 
created and managed by EAM Solar Park Management AS. The royalty structure aligns the interests of EAM 
Solar Park Management AS with the interests of the shareholders of EAM Solar ASA.

Costs charged from EAM Solar Park Management to EAM Solar ASA according to the management agree-
ments between the two companies amount to a total of EUR 671k for 2012.

EAM Solar Park Management AS is owned with 50% by Energeia Asset Management (A-shares) and by 50% 
of EAM Solar Park Partners AS (B-shares) as part of the employee incentive structure for the EAM group.

calculation of eaM Solar park Management aS financial participation in 2012
Note 2012 2011

reported pre-tax profit before eaM SpM fpM 590 040 (1 339 919)

adjustments to pre-tax profit
Acquisition & transaction cost adjustments 806 146 1 066 690

Annual A&T cost 7 907 671 1 122 832
Annual A&T cost adjustment to pre-tax profit (101 525) (56 142)

Annual non-cash items in pre-tax profit (1 567 729) 120 882
Gain on bargain purchase 2 (2 668 237) -
Non-realized currency gain/(loss) 10 1 100 508 120 882
Other non-cash items in pre-tax profit - -

adjusted pre-tax profit (171 543) (152 347)

Calculated pre-tax profit basis for EAM SPM FPM (171 543) (152 347)
Financial participation - 12.5% of pre-tax adjusted profit 7 - -

annual eaM SpM financial participation - -

account of annual a&t cost adjustment base 2012 2011 Accumulated

Opening balance activated A&T costs 1 066 690 - -

A&T cost of the year (addition) 907 671 1 122 832 2 030 503
Used A&T costs (annualized cost) (101 525) (56 142) (157 667)

closing balance for a&t cost for use in consecutive years 1 872 836 1 066 690 1 872 836

(EAM SPM FPM: EAM Solar Park Management AS Financial Participation Mechanism)

As part of the Administrative, Technical and Commercial Management Agreement between EAM Solar ASA and 
EAM Solar Park Management AS (EAM SPM), EAM SPM has the right to receive an annual financial participation 
from the value creation in EAM Solar. The Financial Participation is equal to 12.5% of pre-tax profit in EAM Solar.
The calculation of the annual Financial Participation is based on calculating the adjusted pre-tax profit of 
EAM Solar ASA and then determining the amount eligible for the 12.5% royalty to be received by EAM SPM. 
The main principles behind the annual adjustments are:
1) Acquisition and transaction costs expensed in the year shall be capitalised and adjusted for during the 

lifetime of the project (in 2011 and 2012, and over the next 20 years).
2) Non-cash items in the accounts shall be adjusted for. Examples of such costs items may be asset write-

ups/ write-downs, non-realized currency exchange gains or losses etc.
3) In the case of asset sales with capital gains, the remaining capitalized acquisition and transaction costs 

relating to the asset shall be expensed in the year of asset sale.

As of end 2012, EAM SPM has not received any royalties according to the financial participation mechanism, 
and the closing balance of the capitalized costs relating to the activity is EUR 1 872 836.

EAM Solar Park Management has the following indirect owners:

company/owner
Indirect 
ownership Function

Jakobsen Energeia AS (Viktor Erik Jakobsen) 24.17% Partner EAM Solar Park Management AS
Naben AS (Audun Wickstrand Iversen) 24.17% Partner EAM Solar Park Management AS
Tua Invest AS (Rolf Jarle Aaberg) 10% Partner EAM Solar Park Management AS
RA 1 Invest AS (Roar Johan Alme) 10% Partner EAM Solar Park Management AS
North Shore AS (Øystein Hedenskou Kvarme) 10% Partner EAM Solar Park Management AS
Sundt AS 14.17% Shareholder of EAM Solar ASA
Canica AS 3.75% Shareholder of EAM Solar ASA
Bjørgvin AS 3.75% Shareholder of EAM Solar ASA
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loans from shareholders
EAM SOLAR ASA has entered into a NOK 45 000 000 secured shareholder loan agreement. The agreement was 
entered into on 24th of February 2012, and expires on final maturity date 30th of September 2014.

The loan is secured by a first priority share pledge over 100% of EAM Solar ASÀ s shares in EAM Solar Italy 1 
Srl, and a first priority share pledge over 100% of EAM Solar ASÀ s shares in EAM Solar Italy 2 Srl.

EAM Solar ASA shall pay an interest at an annual rate of 13% on the end of each quarter into the final matu-
rity date on 30th September 2014. The interest paid in 2012 was EUR 652k.

EAM Solar ASA is obligated to repay the loan as quickly as possible through allocating all free cash flow, 
above the necessary working capital in EAM Solar Group. The lenders may, upon request from EAM Solar ASA 
and subject to all lenders, extend the final maturity date to a date specified by the lenders.

EAM Solar ASA has repaid NOK 1 000 000 to Sundt AS, NOK 2 833 333 to Canica AS and NOK 2 833 333 to 
Bjørgvin Vekst 1 AS in 2012. Sundt received NOK 1 833 333, similar to Bjørgvin and Canica, on 1.1.2013 - result-
ing in a balance of NOK 12 659 500. Bjørgvin paid out the loan earlier than the others, resulting higher interest 
costs for the year. 

the lenders:
Share of the 

loan agreement:

Sundt AS NOK 14 492 833
Canica AS NOK 12 637 833
Bjørgvin Vekst I AS NOK 12 659 500

notE 10:  finAnCiAl inCoMe AnD expenSeS

financial income 2012 2011

Interest income 4 711 86 740
total financial income 4 711 86 740

financial expenses 2012 2011

Interest expense 752 534 7 138
Foreign exchange losses 1 100 508 120 882
total financial expenses 1 853 042 128 020

net financial income (expenses) (1 848 331) (41 280)

All agio losses are related to intercompany receivables, of which almost all is unrealised losses. The average ex-
change rate used for 2012 was EUR: NOK 7.47, whereas the exchange rate used at 31.12.2012 was EUR:NOK 7.341.

notE 11:  inCoMe tAx

income tax expense:
2012 2011

Income tax payable (9 156) -
Changes in deferred tax (17 119) 355 330
Witholding tax on intercompany interests (90 758) -
Adjustments for previous years income tax 55 862
income tax expense (61 171) 355 330

income tax expense:
2012 2011

Income tax payable (32 612) (175 591)
Witholding tax on intercompany interests (90 758) -
Property tax payable (expensed as an operating expense) (40 736) -
total tax payable in the balance sheet (164 106) (175 591)

prepaid taxes (other current assets) 338 430 -

net tax receivable 174 324 (175 591)

The net tax receivable will be used to offset mainly against IRES and IRAP tax cash payments in the years to come.

a reconciliation of the effective rate of tax and the tax rate in eaM Solar aSa’s country of registration:
2012 2011

pre-tax profit 590 040 (1 339 919)

Expected income taxes according to income tax rate in Norway (28%) (165 211) 375 177
Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous years 55 862 -
Use of previously unrecognised loss carried forward - -
Non deductable expenses (100 127) (13 566)
Non-taxable income 723 502 23 602
Tax rate outside Norway other than 28% (10 045) -
Witholding tax on intercompany interests (90 758) -
Losses carried forward not recognised as an asset (474 394) (29 883)
income tax expense (61 171) 355 330
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deferred tax and deferred tax assets:
2012 2011

deferred tax assets
Tax losses carried forward 763 331 217 981
Other (transaction costs) 171 225 245 689
Other temporary differences 13 612
Losses carried forward not recognised as an asset (596 346) (121 952)
income tax expense 338 210 355 330

deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment - -
Other - -
deferred tax liabilities - gross - -

net recognised deferred tax assets 338 210 355 330

The Group has a total tax loss carried forward of EUR 338k as of 31st December 2012, in which EUR 25k are rec-
ognised as an asset in the balance sheet as at 31.12.2012.

notE 12:  eArninGS per ShAre

The basic earnings per share are calculated as: the ratio of the profit for the year that is due to the sharehold-
ers of the parent divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (in 2012 this equals 
1.200.000 shares and in 2011 854.333 shares).

There is no dilutive potential on the ordinary shares, so the earnings will be the same for both basic and 
diluted basis.

2012 2011

Profit for the year due to holders of ordinary shares 528 869
Loss for the year due to the holders of ordinary shares (984 589)
Basis for calculating earnings per share 528 869 (984 589)

earnings per share: 2012 2011

Continued operation
- Basic 0.44 (1.15)
- Diluted 0.44 (1.15)

notE 13:  property, plAnt AnD equipMent

Ytd december 2012 Solar power plants

Accumulated cost 1 January 6 563 352
Additions 14 006 012
Depreciation (1 036 269)
carrying value 31 december 2012 19 533 095

2011 Solar power plants

Additions from aquisition of companies 6 711 364
Accumulated depreciation and write downs (148 012)
carrying value 31 december 2011 6 563 352

05.01.2011 - 31.12.2012 Solar power plants

Acquisition cost 20 717 376
Accumulated depreciation and write downs (1 184 281)
carrying value 30 december 19 533 095

Economic life 11 to 20 years and linear depreciation.
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notE 14:  ContrACtuAl oBliGAtionS

The Group has the following contractual obligations regarding an Operations & Maintenance agreement, land 
rent, insurance and a management service agreement for the solar power plants in Varmo and Codroipo, Italy.

contractual obligations as of 31.12.2012 (eUr)

2013 316 400 1)
2014 316 400 1)
2015 316 400 1)
2016 316 400 1), 2)
2017 316 400
After 2017 4 113 200 1), 3)
total 5 695 200

(All amounts are in nominal 2012 values)

1) Annual amounts are given in real 2012 values. For the years 2013 – 2016 these values are to be adjusted by 
inflation with the Italian Consumer price index from ISTAT with reference dated 19th October 2011.

2) O&M Contracts ends 28th February 2014.
3) MSA with Wise Energy expires end of 2017 but is cancellable on 6 months notice.
4) After 2017 the same annual values used. O&M and MSA cannot be omitted even if the contracts expire.

notE 15:  finAnCiAl riSk MAnAGeMent

Financial risk
The Group has only financial instruments related to trade receivables and other current assets and trade 
payables, including both credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group plans to have 60-75% debt financing on its 
investments. See section Capital Structure and Equity for plans of future financing.

I. Credit risk 
The Group is exposed to credit risk that is primarily related to accounts receivable, cash and other current 
assets. The Group limits the exposure to credit risk through credit evaluation of its customers before credit 
is given. 

The Group has only one customer since it sells electrical power through a feed-in scheme. The customer 
is wholly owned by the Ministry of Economy and Finance in Italy, and the Group considers the credit risk 
related to this customer as low. 

The Group has guidelines for ensuring that sales are made only to customers that have not experienced 
any significant payment problems, and that outstanding amounts do not exceed certain credit limits. 

The Group regards its maximum credit risk as exposure to the carrying amount of trade receivables (see 
Note 16) and other current assets (see Note 17). 

The main customer is the executive authority body GSE that pays out the Feed-in Tariff, and until now, also 
purchases the power. The risk of not receiving the correct revenues is very low, however, bureaucratic pro-
cedure may, from time to time, delay the payments particularly relating to communicating upgrades of the 
power plant or changes in corporate data of the SPV owning the power plant.

II. Interest-rate risk 
The Group had EUR 5.4 million in interest bearing debt (bridge loan) with a fixed interest rate of 13% and 
has therefore no interest-rate risk as of 31st December 2012.

III. exchange rate risk 
The bridge loan (above) is denominated in Norwegian kroner, whilst the income of the company is in euro. 
The loan intends to be repaid in March 2013 with the proceeds of the planned IPO and the capital increase, 
and it is therefore considered that the exchange rate risk is limited as of 31st December 2012. Apart from this, 
the Group has no significant exchange rate risk, as all major assets and revenues of the Group are in EUR.

IV. liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Groups approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient li-
quidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring un-
acceptable losses or risking damage to the Groups reputation. 

Surplus liquidity is primarily placed on a bank deposit account. 

Capital structure and equity
The primary focus of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 
healthy capital ratio in order to support its business and maximize shareholders value. The Group manages its 
capital structure and makes adjustment to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to share-
holders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives policies or processes during the year as 
of 31st December 2012. The Group monitors capital by using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by en-
terprise value. The Group's policy is to keep the gearing ratio between 60% and 75%. The Group includes: net 
debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital 
includes equity attributable to equity holders of the parent. As of 31st December the Group has a shareholder 
bridge loan given by three of the leading shareholders of MNOK 39.8 million (including accrued interest) at 
13%. Because of the financial crisis the market for bank debt has been closed, but recent developments have 
seen this market re-emerge. The Group is currently in negotiations with leading Italian financial institutions 
to seek project financing or a financial leasing contract of their two existing assets. The acquisition finance is 
planned to have a term of 200 months (16.5 years) and a gearing level of 60% to 75%. These are target levels, 
but depending on the projects, the gearing level may vary above or below this.
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notE 16:  trADe reCeiVABleS

(EUR) 2012 2011

Accounts receivables 950 882 429 266
accounts receivables 950 882 429 266

There was no provision for bad debt for 2012. Losses for bad debt are classified as other operating expenses 
in the income statement.

Changes in bad debt provision: (EUR) 2012 2011

Provisions as of January 1 - -
Provision for bad debt during the period - -
Realized losses for the year - -
Reversed provision during the period - -
Changes due to business combinations - -
december 31 - -

Credit risk and foreign exchange risk regarding accounts receivable are discussed in note 15.

Aging of trade receivables as of 31.12.2012 was as follows:

Aging structure of receivables Total
Less than 

30 days 30-60 days 60-90 days
More than 

90 days

2012 950 882 104 524 277 532 255 484 313 342

There is no deadline for the collection of trade receivables, and the collection depends on the cash availabil-
ity of the customer.

Payments from the GSe
The overdue amount of receivables from the GSE was EUR 951k as of 31.12.2012. The oldest elements in this stem 
back from January 2012. The underlying reason for this is that ENEL Distribuzione only reports Feed-in Tariff (FiT) 
production on an end of year basis. Monthly payments have been based on estimates by the GSE. These have 
been consistently too low as the GSÉ s model assumes fixed tilt – lower output plants based on installed capacity. 

EAM Solar Park Management has taken action to rectify this by installing new FiT meters and as such ENEL 
Distribuzione is replaced with Wise Energy as responsible for reading and reporting production figures. Thus, 
correct production figures have been reported on a monthly basis since December 2012. 

The under reported production from January through to November 2012 is currently in process by the GSE 
for final approval and payment, and the earliest possible date for settlement is the end of February 2013. How-
ever, delays are not uncommon and these payments can be delayed by an additional one to two months.

None of the above amounts are considered to be bad debt, as there is no uncertainty related to correct set-
tlement of the funds, only the timing of receipt.

EUR 783k was collected from the GSE on 28th February 2013.

notE 17:  other Current ASSetS

2012 2011

Pre-paid costs 18 789 3 921
Pre-paid income tax 338 430 -
Unbilled revenue 18 299 20 017
VAT receivable 218 535 143 239
Other current assets 4 497 42 588
total other current assets 598 551 209 765

notE 18:  CASh AnD CASh equiVAlentS

2012 2011

Cash 713 730 8 000 353
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet 713 730 8 000 353
Unused credit facility - -
cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement 713 730 8 000 353

notE 19:  ShAre CApitAl, ShAreholDer inforMAtion AnD DiViDenD

2012

Ordinary shares, nominal amount NOK 10 1 200 000
total number of shares 1 200 000

Changes to share capital and premium:

(NOK)
No. of shares 

2012
Share capital 

2012
Premium 

2012

ordinary shares
Share capital as at 31.12.2011 1 200 000 12 000 000 108 000 000
Changes to shares in 2012 - - -
31 december 2012 1 200 000 12 000 000 108 000 000

All issued shares have equal voting rights and the right to receive dividend.
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the 15 main shareholders at 31.12.12 are:

Shareholder
Number 

of shares
Ownership 

interest

Bjørgvin 200 000 16.67%
Canica As 200 000 16.67%
Sundt As 200 000 16.67%
DnB Livsforsikring Asa 120 000 10.00%
Alden As 50 000 4.17%
Extellus As 50 000 4.17%
Fram Management As 50 000 4.17%
Ojn Invest As 50 000 4.17%
DnB Nor Markets, Aksjehand/Analyse 45 000 3.75%
Watrium As 40 000 3.33%
Gec Holding As 30 000 2.50%
Mp Pensjon Pk 30 000 2.50%
Tybl As 30 000 2.50%
Stiftelsen Kjell Holm 20 000 1.67%
Karlander Invest As 15 000 1.25%
Other 70 000 5.83%
total 1 200 000 100.00%

Dividend paid and proposed 
There have been no dividends paid in 2012. The Board may consider proposing a dividend payment to be ap-
proved at the annual general meeting to be held in May 2013.

A Board decision on dividend proposal will be made before the summons of the ordinary general assembly 
that will be sent out in April 2013.

notE 20:  poWer proDuCtion AnD operAtionS

The following power plants are included in the consolidated financial statements:

Reported power production 
(MWh) fY 2012 FY 2011 Q1'2012 Q2'2012 Q3'2012 Q4'2012

Codroipo 4 595 - 576 1 673 1 701 645
Varmo 2 571 692 600 811 873 286
total 7 166 692 1 176 2 484 2 574 931

Actual power 
production (MWh) fY 2012 FY 2011 Q1'2012 Q2'2012 Q3'2012 Q4'2012

Codroipo 5 238 3 262 1 218 1 673 1 701 645
Varmo 2 571 2 623 600 811 873 286
total 7 808 5 885 1 818 2 484 2 575 931

Varmo has been in commercial operation since December 2010, while Codroipo commenced commercial 
operation in May 2011.

The financial close for the Varmo power plant was conducted on the 31st August 2011, consequently the 
reported accounts include the power plant from this date. The financial close for the Codroipo power plant 
was conducted on the 29th February 2012 and subsequently Codroipo is included in the financial accounts 
from 1st March. The reported power production is therefore roughly 12% lower than the actual realized power 
production year to date 2012.

The power production from the solar power plants of EAM follows the seasonality of solar irradiation in 
Italy. This implies that approximately 18% of the annual power production is in Q1, 32% in Q2, 35% in Q3 and 
15% in Q4.

Electricity production in 2012 was 13.6% above the expected production. The weather pattern during the 
year has been typical for the area. The measured irradiation was 11% above the long-term average that is in 
line with normal annual variations of ± 15%.

The technical operation of the plants has been stable and according to plans during the year. Technical 
availability was 99.6%. However, the plants have been affected by grid disturbance in November and Decem-
ber, as well as maintenance and administrative situations resulting in a commercial availability of 95%. Tech-
nical adjustments to the grid switches seem to have solved the grid problems. Corrections of maintenance 
and administrative plans and procedures have been implemented, and this is assumed to remove the major 
causes of lost commercial availability.

Installation of dedicated GSE meters was completed during Q3 and reporting from these meters started in 
December 2012. The installation of these energy meters, at the correct and optimized measuring point, may 
increase the revenues up to 0.8–1%.

Due to the standard reporting cycle of ENEL Distribuzione the correct production figures for Varmo and 
Codroipo was only reported once a year, and often the reporting was incorrect. This has resulted in up to 1/3 
of annual revenues in overdue receivables at any time. To correct this situation, EAM nominated Wise Energy 
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to execute the Feed–in Tariff production reporting to GSE. The GSE accepted Wise Energy as a responsible 
reporting institution in early November; however, technical malfunctions and red tape in GSE restricted the 
reporting of correct information until the end of January. The problems in GSE appear to be solved, and over-
due receivables are expected to be settled in Q1, 2013 (TBC) with normal cash flow thereafter. The risk of loos-
ing revenues is considered as non-existent.     

ENEL and GSE routines are designed for fixed tilt power plants. The overdue receivables situation experi-
enced for EAM ś two power plants is not typical and is related to the high productivity of these plants com-
pared to the average power plants.

notE 21:  eVentS After the BAlAnCe Sheet DAte

1 EAM Solar ASA applied for a public listing on the Oslo Axess stock exchange on 20th February 2013. The 
company expects to be listed as of 26th March 2013.

2 EAM Solar ASA conducted further repayments of the shareholder loan on the 1st January 2013 by the pay-
ment of NOK 1 833 333 Sundt AS.

3 The amount of receivables from GSE was high at year-end due to the issues identified in Note 17. EAM Solar 
ASA received payment of EUR 783k at the end of February 2013 from GSE reducing receivables significantly.
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profit & loSS 
StateMent
(NOK) Note

1.1–31.12 
2012

5.1–31.12 
2011

Revenue 3 200 000 372 758
total revenue 200 000 372 758

Sales, general and administration expenses 4 (835 433) (219 642)
Acquisition and transaction costs 4 (2 604 109) (603 213)
operating profit (3 239 542) (450 097)

Finance income 11 4 487 889 675 005
Finance costs 11 (13 685 930) (997 591)
profit before tax (12 437 583) (772 683)

Income tax gain/(expense ) 7 (666 254) -
profit after tax (13 103 837) (772 683)

attributable to
Share premium 10 (13 103 837) (772 683)

(13 103 837) (772 683)
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BAlAnCe 
Sheet
(NOK) Note 31.12.12 31.12.11

aSSetS
non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 2 233 882 233 882
Deferred tax asset 7 - -
total non-current assets 233 882 233 882

current assets
Trade receivables 8 4 756 682 7 827 922
Intragroup receivables 8 141 624 056 54 998 743
Other receivables 8 518 618 1 133 049
Cash and cash equivalents 8 1 842 527 56 010 494
total current assets 148 741 883 119 970 208

total aSSetS 148 975 765 120 204 090

(NOK) Note 31.12.12 31.12.11

eQUitY and liaBilitieS
equity
paid in capital
Issued capital 10 12 000 000 12 000 000
Share premium 10 91 680 755 104 784 592
total paid in capital 103 680 755 116 784 592

other equity
Other equity - -
total other equity - -

total equity 103 680 755 116 784 592

current liabilities
Trade payables 8 4 738 590 2 395 658
Income tax payable 7 666 254 -
Short term loan - interest bearing 6 39 790 166 -
Other current liabilities 8 100 000 1 023 840
total current liabilities 45 295 010 3 419 498

Total liabilities 45 295 010 3 419 498
total eQUitY and liaBilitieS 148 975 765 120 204 090

Oslo, 8th of March 2013

Viktor E. Jakobsen
Chairman of the Board

Ingelise Arntsen
Board member

Paal E. Johnsen
Board member

Audun W. Iversen
Managing Director
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CASh floW 
StateMent
(NOK) 1.1. - 31.12. 5.1 - 31.12
(1 January - 31 December) Note 2012 2011

cash flow from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before income taxes (12 437 583) (772 683)
Income taxes paid 7 - -
Changes in trade receivables 8 3 071 240 (8 960 971)
Changes in trade payables 8 2 342 932 3 419 498
Changes in other accruals 8 (309 409) -
net cash flow from operating activities (7 332 820) (6 314 156)

cash flows from investing activities
Loan to subsidiary 8 (86 625 313) (54 998 743)
Aquisition of subsidiaries 2 - (233 882)
net cash flow used in investing activities (86 625 313) (55 232 625)

cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital 11 - 117 557 275
Proceeds from borrowings 6 45 000 000
Repayment of loans 6 (5 209 834) -
net cash flow from financing activities 39 790 166 117 557 275

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equvivalents (54 167 967) 56 010 494
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 56 010 494 -
cash and cash equivalents at end of period 1 842 527 56 010 494
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noteS to pArent CoMpAny 
financial StateMentS

notE 1:  ACCountinG prinCipleS

The financial statement has been prepared in accord-
ance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and gener-
ally accepted accounting principles in Norway. The 
Company was founded 5 January 2011.

use of estimates
The management has used estimates and assump-
tions that have affected assets, liabilities incomes, 
expenses and information on potential liabilities in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples in Norway.

Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the 
rate applicable on the transaction date. Monetary 
items in foreign currency are translated into NOK us-
ing an exchange rate applicable on the balance sheet 
date. Non-monetary items that are measured at their 
historical price expressed in a foreign currency are 
translated into NOK using the exchange rate applica-
ble on the transaction date. Non-monetary items that 
are measured at their fair value expressed in a foreign 
currency are translated at the exchange rate applica-
ble on the balance sheet date. Changes to exchange 

rates are recognised in the income statement as their 
occur during the accounting period.

Revenue recognition
The company's revenues consist of management ser-
vices provided to the subsidiaries. The management 
services have been presented net in the profit and 
loss statement, and only the mark-up related to the 
services has been recognized as revenue. Revenue is 
recognised once delivery has taken place and most of 
the risk and return has been transferred.

Income tax
The tax expense consists of tax payable and changes 
to deferred tax. Deferred tax/tax assets are calcu-
lated on all differences between the book value and 
tax value of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is cal-
culated as 28 per cent of temporary differences and 
tax effect of tax losses carried forward. Deferred tax 
assets are recorded in the balance sheet when it is 
more likely than not that the tax assets will be utilized.

Taxes payable and deferred taxes are recognised 
directly in equity to the extent that they relate to eq-
uity transactions.

Balance sheet classification
Current assets and short-term liabilities consist of re-
ceivables and payables due within one year. Other bal-
ance sheet items are classified as long-term assets.

Current assets are valued at the lower of cost and 
fair value. Short-term liabilities are recognized at nom-
inal value.

Subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in 
the company accounts, less any impairment losses. 
An impairment loss is recognised if impairment is not 
considered temporary, in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. Impairment losses 
are reversed if the reason for the impairment loss dis-
appears in a later period.

Dividends and other contributions from subsidiar-
ies are recognised in the same year as they are rec-
ognised in the financial statement of the provider. If 
dividends exceed withheld profits after the acquisition 
date, the excess amount represents repayment of in-
vested capital, and the distribution will be deducted 
from the recorded value of the acquisition in the bal-
ance sheet.

trade receivables and other receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded 
in the balance sheet at nominal value less provisions 
for doubtful accounts. Provision for doubtful accounts 
are based on an individual assessment of different re-
ceivables. For the remaining receivables, a general 
provision is estimated based on expected loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand and bank deposits. Cash 
equivalents are short-term liquid investments that can 
be converted to cash within three months and at a 
known amount.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is presented using the indi-
rect method.
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notE 2:  inVeStMent in SuBSiDiArieS AnD ASSoCiAteS

company (NOK) Location
Share 

ownership Voting rights Book value

EAM Solar Italy 1 Srl Italy 100% 100% 77 629
EAM Solar Italy 2 Srl Italy 100% 100% 77 758
EAM Solar Italy 3 Srl Italy 100% 100% 78 495
total 233 882

notE 3:  reVenue

By business area (NOK) 2012 2011

Management services provided to subsidiaries 5 200 000 372 758
Management service (expense) 5 000 000 -
net revenue 200 000 372 758

geographical distribution (NOK) 2012 2011

Norway - -
Italy 200 000 372 758
total 200 000 372 758

notE 4:  other operAtinG expenSeS

Specification auditor's fee (NOK) 2012 2011

Statutory audit 200 000 200 000
Other assurance services 253 073 -
Tax consultant services 48 080 263 450
Other assurance services 249 500 39 300
total 750 653 502 750

(The amounts are excl VAT)

notE 5:  SAlAry AnD perSonnel expenSe

The company had no employees for 2012.
NOK

Remuneration to the board 100 000
Payroll tax 14 100
total salary costs 114 100

notE 6:  trAnSACtionS With relAteD pArtieS

Related parties Transactions

EAM Solar Park Management AS Management and consulting services

transactions with related parties
All the transactions have been carried out as part of the ordinary operations and at arms-length prices.

EAM Solar Park Management AS delivers management services to EAM Solar ASA according to a manage-
ment agreement between the parties. According to this agreement, EAM Solar Park Management AS can charge 
EAM Solar ASA for direct costs related to the management services provided - amounts above NOK 5 million 
a year shall be approved by the board of directors in EAM Solar ASA.

Furthermore, EAM Solar Park Management AS receives 12.5% of the Groups profit as a royalty from EAM 
Solar ASA (financial participation mechanism). The royalty is based on the fact EAM Solar ASA is developed, 
created and managed by EAM Solar Park Management AS. The royalty structure aligns the interests of EAM 
Solar Park Management AS with the interests of the shareholders of EAM Solar ASA.

Cost charged from EAM Solar Park Management to EAM Solar ASA according to the management agree-
ments between the two companies amount to a total of EUR 671k for 2012.

EAM Solar Park Management AS is owned with 50% by Energeia Asset Management (A-shares) and by 50% 
of EAM Solar Park Partners AS (B-shares) as part of the employee incentive structure for the EAM group.

loans from shareholders
EAM SOLAR ASA has entered into a NOK 45 000 000 secured shareholder loan agreement. The agreement was 
entered into on 24th of February 2012, and expires on final maturity date 30th of September 2014.

The loan is secured by a first priority share pledge over 100% of EAM Solar ASÀ s shares in EAM Solar Italy 1 
Srl, and a first priority share pledge over 100% of EAM Solar ASÀ s shares in EAM Solar Italy 2 Srl.

EAM Solar ASA shall pay an interest at an annual rate of 13% on the end of each quarter into the final ma-
turity date on 30th of September 2014. The interest paid in 2012 was NOK 5 547 097, included the loan guaran-
tee on NOK 675 000.

EAM Solar ASA is obligated to repay the loan as fast as possible through allocating all free cash flow, above 
the necessary working capital in EAM Solar Group. The lenders may, upon request from EAM Solar ASA and 
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subject to all lenders, extend the final maturity date to a date specified by the lenders.
EAM Solar ASA has repaid NOK 1 000 000 to Sundt AS, NOK 2 833 333 to Canica AS and NOK 2 833 333 to 

Bjørgvin Vekst 1 AS in 2012.

the lenders:
Share of the 

loan agreement:

Sundt AS NOK 14 492 833
Canica AS NOK 12 637 833
Bjørgvin Vekst I AS NOK 12 659 500

transactions with subsidiaries
The company has provided services to subsidiaries during 2012 for NOK 5 200 000. Please refer to Note 3. 
The company has also provided subsidiaries with interest bearing loans during 2012. See note 8 and note 11.

notE 7:  inCoMe tAxeS

income tax expense: (NOK) 2012 2011

Tax payable (witholding tax Italy) (666 254) -
Changes in deferred tax - -
income tax expense (666 254) -

tax base calculation: (NOK) 2012 2011

profit before tax (12 437 583) (772 683)
Permanent differences (666 254) (2 424 647)
Tax loss carried forward (3 197 330) -
tax base (16 301 167) (3 197 330)

tax loss carried forward:
EAM Solar ASA has a tax loss carried forward of NOK 16 301 167 as at 31 December 2012 which expires as follows:

(NOK) 2012 2011

Non due date (16 301 167) (3 197 330)
Total tax loss carried forward (16 301 167) (3 197 330)

The deferred tax asset as at 28% tax rate; NOK 4 564 326, is not recognized in balance sheet as it is currently 
not likely that the tax loss carried forward can be utilized.

notE 8:  liABilitieS AnD reCeiVABleS

receivables: (NOK) 2012 2011

Trade receivables 4 756 682 7 827 922
Other receivables 518 618 1 133 049
Loan to group companies 141 624 056 54 998 743
total receivables 146 899 356 63 959 714

liabilities: (NOK) 2012 2011

Trade payables 4 738 590 2 395 658
Other current liabilities 100 000 1 023 840
total current liabilities 4 838 590 3 419 498

notE 9:  CASh AnD CASh equiVAlentS

(NOK) 2012 2011

Bankdeposits NOK-account 1 840 188 17 240 280
Bankdeposits EUR-account 2 339 38 770 194
cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet 1 842 527 56 010 474

The company had unused credit facilities of NOK 0 as at 31 December 2012.
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notE 10:  equity

total number of shares 1 200 000

(NOK) No.of Share capital Premium Total equity

ordinary shares
Issued and fully paid 5 january 1 000 100 000 - 100 000
Reduction of share capital (1 000) (100 000) - (100 000)
Issued new share capital 1 200 000 12 000 000 108 000 000 120 000 000
Expenses related to the share issue (2 442 725) (2 442 725)
Net profit/(loss) in 2011 (772 683) (772 683)
31 december 2011 1 200 000 12 000 000 104 784 592 116 784 592

2012

equity as at 1 January 2012 1 200 000 12 000 000 104 784 592 116 784 592
Net profit/(loss) in 2011 (13 103 837) (13 103 837)
equity as at 31.12.2012 1 200 000 12 000 000 91 680 755 103 680 755

All issued shares have equal voting rights and right to receive dividend.

the 15 main shareholders pr. 31.12.12 are:

Shareholder
Number 

of shares
Ownership 

interest

Bjørgvin 200 000 16.67%
Canica As 200 000 16.67%
Sundt As 200 000 16.67%
DnB Livsforsikring Asa 120 000 10.00%
Alden As 50 000 4.17%
Extellus As 50 000 4.17%
Fram Management As 50 000 4.17%
Ojn Invest As 50 000 4.17%
DnB Nor Markets, Aksjehand/Analyse 45 000 3.75%
Watrium As 40 000 3.33%
Gec Holding As 30 000 2.50%
Mp Pensjon Pk 30 000 2.50%
Tybl As 30 000 2.50%
Stiftelsen Kjell Holm 20 000 1.67%
Karlander Invest As 15 000 1.25%
Other 70 000 5.83%
total 1 200 000 100.00%

Dividend paid and proposed
There have been no dividends paid in 2012. The board may consider proposing a dividend payment to be ap-
proved at annual general meeting to be held in May in 2013.

A Board decision on dividend proposal will be made before summon of the ordinary general assembly is 
sent in April 2013.
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notE 11:  finAnCe inCoMe AnD finAnCe CoSt

(NOK) 2012 2011

Interest income on intercompany loans 4 487 889 674 643
Agio - 362
total financial income 4 487 889 675 005

(NOK) 2012 2011

Interest cost 5 545 717 (55 556)
Disagio 8 140 213 (942 035)
total finance costs 13 685 930 (997 591)

notE 12:  SuBSequent eVentS

See note 21 in the Group financial statements.
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reSponSiBility StAteMent froM 
the Board of directorS and  
the Managing director
We confirm, to the best of our knowledge that the financial statements 
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2012 have been prepared in ac-
cordance with current applicable accounting standards, and give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of 
the entity and the group taken as a whole. We also confirm that the Board 

of Directors’ Report includes a true and fair view of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the entity and the group, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing 
the entity and the group.

Oslo, 8th of March 2013

Viktor E. Jakobsen
Chairman of the Board

Ingelise Arntsen
Board member

Paal E. Johnsen
Board member

Audun W. Iversen
Managing Director
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